

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Strategies Project Managers Use That Reduce Information Technology Project Failures in the Insurance Industry

Jamarcus Snipes Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons, and the Databases and Information Systems Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.



www.manaraa.com

# Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jamarcus Snipes

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Sylnovie Merchant, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Tim Truitt, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Lisa Cave, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021



# Abstract

Strategies Project Managers Use That Reduce Information Technology Project Failures in

the Insurance Industry

by

Jamarcus Snipes

MS, Troy University, 2008

B.S., University of North Alabama, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2021



# Abstract

The worldwide failure rate of information technology (IT) projects is approximately 65%. Insurance project managers who fail to successfully implement IT projects negatively impact organizational performance and profitability. Grounded in the management by objectives theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry. The participants comprised four IT project managers in Alabama who successfully used strategies to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry. Data were collected from virtual semistructured interviews, company documents, existing literature, and journal notes. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. Three themes emerged: scope management, effective communication, and managing priorities. A key recommendation for IT project managers is to develop a change control process for scope management. The implications for positive social change include the potential for IT project managers to create jobs and stimulate the local economy.



# Strategies Project Managers Use That Reduce Information Technology Project Failures in

the Insurance Industry

by

Jamarcus Snipes

MS, Troy University, 2008

B.S., University of North Alabama, 2005

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

May 2021



List of Tables iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem2
Problem Statement2
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question
Interview Questions
Conceptual Framework5
Operational Definitions
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations6
Assumptions
Limitations7
Delimitations7
Significance of the Study7
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature
Information Technology 10
Project Management 16
Project Management in the Insurance Industry
System Development Life Cycle
Management by Objectives

# Table of Contents



Transition
Purpose Statement
Role of the Researcher
Participants
Research Method45
Research Design
Population and Sampling49
Ethical Research
Data Collection Instruments
Data Collection Technique
Data Organization Technique
Data Analysis
Compiling
Disassembling
Reassembling 58
Interpreting 59
Concluding 59
Reliability and Validity60
Dependability
Credibility
Transferability
Confirmability



Data Saturation
Transition and Summary63
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change
Introduction65
Presentation of the Findings65
Theme 1: Scope Management
Theme 2: Effective Communication
Theme 3: Managing Competing Priorities72
Applications to Professional Practice75
Implications for Social Change76
Recommendations for Action77
Recommendations for Further Research78
Reflections79
Conclusion
References
Appendix: Interview Protocol118



# List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Source Content	9
Table 2. Information Technology History	11
Table 3. IT Project management life cycles	13
Table 4. Failure Factors for IT Projects	15
Table 5. Project Management Knowledge Areas	18
Table 6. Project Failure Reasons	23
Table 7. Project Management Skills	27
Table 8. Management by Objectives Process	34
Table 9. Strategies to Manage Scope	67
Table 10. Strategies to Manage Competing Priorities	73



## Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Projects are used by business leaders to execute business objectives and strategies, and the failure of projects can have a direct impact on the organization's success. Project managers are under pressure to identify strategies that will help organizations successfully implement their Information Technology (IT) projects (Anantatmula, 2015). Less than one-third of business leaders are not getting the desired business results when IT projects conclude (Sudhakar, 2016). An IT project can be expensive, and organizational leaders cannot afford the potential losses of a failed project or a compromise that negatively influences competitive advantage (Chi & Sun, 2015). According to Emam and Koru (2008), if a leader correctly places their time, money, and energy on IT projects, they can be more productive and efficient than their competitors. There are many factors, such as changes in technologies, increased complexity, and poor planning that can influence success or failure in IT projects (Jørgensen & Yamashita, 2016).

The failure of IT projects can have a negative influence on organizational leaders' ability to meet their business goals (Ko & Kirsch, 2017). Organizational leaders are experiencing increased project failures due to the inability to meet either budget, schedule, or project scope (Serrador & Turner, 2015). IT project failures present organizational leaders with the potential loss of market share and competitive advantage that could lead to organizational failure and economic challenges (Engelbrecht et al., 2017).



## **Background of the Problem**

According to Maruping et al. (2019), the complexity of information technology may contribute to the lack of success in IT projects. IT project management includes implementing projects for software development, hardware installations, network upgrades, cloud computing, and implementing IT services (Paul et al., 2018). The successful implementation of IT projects influences organizational success, growth, and competitiveness (Ko & Kirsch, 2017). Although the definition of project success has expanded outside of the triple constraint (time, cost, and scope), a project is considered a failure when it has not delivered what was required and in line with expectations.

Organizational leaders invest in their IT products to support their organizational strategies. As a result, there is an increased focus on implementing project management strategies that reduce IT project failure. However, with the increased complexity and pressure involved with information technology, project managers are experiencing project cancellations, budget overruns, schedule delays, or failures to implement functionality specified in the contract scope (Scheuchner, 2017). According to Korzaan and Erskine (2018), 25% of technology projects fail outright.

#### **Problem Statement**

Failed implementation of IT projects negatively impacts organizational performance and profitability (Jeppson & Salerno, 2017). In 2016, the failure rate of IT projects was approximately 65% worldwide (Terlizzi et al., 2016). The general business problem was that failure to implement IT projects successfully puts organizations at



financial risk. The specific business problem was that some project managers lack strategies to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry. The target population consisted of four IT project managers who have successfully used strategies to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry located in Alabama. The contributions to social change may include the improvement of project performance and reduction of financial risks. A reduction in the number of failed IT projects can improve organizational performance and the economy, ultimately providing a positive impact on society through the creation of jobs and economic development.

## Nature of the Study

There three types of researcher methods, and they are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). The qualitative method explores a phenomenon to gain an understanding of underlying reasons, opinions, and motivations (Avgousti, 2013). The justification for using the qualitative method stems from the need to conduct humanistic data gathering and analysis (Chowdhury, 2015). The quantitative method involves testing the hypotheses and analyzing independent and dependent variable relationships (Nardi, 2018). The quantitative method was not appropriate for the study because it focuses on numerical data, and the study explored the experiences of the participants. Researchers use a mixed methods approach when combining quantitative and qualitative methods (Nardi, 2018). The mixed methods was not appropriate for this



study because it involves the incorporation of the qualitative and quantitative approaches, and the quantitative approach examines the relationships between independent and dependent variables. The purpose of the study was to explore experiences of the participants rather than explore the relationship between variables.

This study used a multiple case study design. Researchers use the case study design to broaden understanding and explore a case that is bounded in time and place (Tetnowski, 2015). The multiple case study design was appropriate for this study to explore the experiences of different project managers in various IT projects. Researchers use the phenomenological design to explore a phenomenon in human nature through the lived experiences of participants (Moustakas, 1994). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study because there was not a focus on life experiences. Researchers use the grounded theory design to develop theories to explain research data (Glaser, 1999). The grounded theory design was not appropriate for this study because the research did not discover or generate new theories. Researchers use the ethnographic design to study people and their behavior in a cultural setting (Lewis, 2015). The ethnographic design was not appropriate as this study did not involve group exploration in a cultural-sharing.

#### **Research Question**

The central question guiding the research was: RQ: What strategies do project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry?



## **Interview Questions**

- 1. What strategies have you used to reduce IT project failures?
- 2. What strategies did you find worked best to minimize the risk of IT project failure?
- 3. How did the different strategies to reduce IT project failure impact project outcomes?
- 4. What modifications did you apply to any of the strategies to improve the effect of IT project success?
- 5. What strategies did you find were the least effective in reducing IT project failures, and why?
- 6. Is there anything else you would like to add that you did not address about reducing IT project failures?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The management by objectives (MBO) theory was the conceptual framework for this study. Drucker (1954) developed MBO theory in 1954 to explain the discipline of modern management practices to improve the performance of an organization by defining clear objectives for all levels of an organization. Drucker (1954) identified the following principles: (a) review and revise cascading organizational goal and objectives, (b) translate specific objectives for each employee, (c) stimulate the participation of employees in the determining of the objectives, (d) monitor progress, and (e) evaluate performance and reward achievements. The MBO theory was selected for this study because, like project management, the MBO theory is about goal setting and frequent



communication and understanding the why, when, and how objectives to achieve the goals needed for project success. As a result, the MBO theory served as a useful foundation for understanding strategies project managers use to reduce IT project failures.

#### **Operational Definitions**

*Iron triangle*: The iron triangle is a model of constraint that defines success using the time, cost, and scope of project objectives with quality as the central theme (Darling & Whitty, 2016).

*System development life cycle (SDLC)*: The SDLC is a methodology for building, designing, and maintaining computer software, information, and industrial systems (Oluwaseun et al., 2016).

*SMART goals:* SMART goals are activities that are <u>Specific</u>, <u>M</u>easurable, <u>A</u>cceptable, <u>R</u>ealistic, and <u>T</u>ime-bound (Sull & Sull, 2018).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### Assumptions

Assumptions are details that relate to a study that the researcher considers to be true without verification (Lips-Wiersma & Mills, 2014). There were three assumptions for this study. The first assumption was that the participants would honestly represent their project management knowledge and experience related to the strategies for project success required for this study. The second assumption was that the participants would have a comprehensive knowledge of the Project Management Body of Knowledge



(PMBOK). The third assumption was that the participants' views represent most project managers in the effective management of IT projects.

## Limitations

Limitations are uncontrollable threats associated with the study that may influence the interpretation of the results (Singh, 2015). According to Weisburd and Gill (2014), limitations are possible weaknesses related to the study. There were two limitations to the study. First, the small sample size of participants may not fully represent the views of other project managers. The results of a study can be limited when researchers use small sample sizes (Kharuddin, et al., 2015). Secondly, researcher bias was a limitation given my professional experience with IT projects. Research bias can influence the results to portray a specific outcome (Noble & Smith, 2015).

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are factors that restrict the scope of the study and identify what the research is not going to address (Yin, 2017). Delimitations are choices researchers make to design and define the project's scope (Yin, 2017). There were two delimitations of the study. Firstly, the participant location was limited to Birmingham, Alabama, and may not transfer to project managers in other regions of the United States for future studies. Secondly, although the participants had experience that applied to the study, they may have had fewer than 10 years of experience.

#### Significance of the Study

This study is significant to business practice in that it may provide a model for leaders who look to improve the success rate of IT projects and the the leaders' ability to



achieve yearly goals and performance objectives. The outcomes of the study could demonstrate that project management practices are needed to implement tactical plan initiatives, reduce project failure rates, limit unaccounted costs, and avoid lost opportunities. The results could benefit the project management community and provide project managers with strategies that result in project success.

Projects that have failed in the past have had consequences for the economy, organizations, customers, societies, and communities (Gelbard & Carmeli, 2009). From a social change perspective, the study may provide project management strategies that IT project managers can use to reduce the risk of project failure and improve decision making, therefore improving organizational performance. Improved project and organizational performance can have a positive impact on the economy and, ultimately, positively impact society.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The literature review section provides a comprehensive review of the literature regarding strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures. The central research question was:

RQ: What strategies do project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry?

The literature review represents the critical analysis and synthesis of researched literature related to the study and addresses conflicting theories.

The literature review contains a detailed review of current and influential peerreviewed literature and comprises of the following topic areas (a) project management,



(b) information technology, and (c) SDLC, and (d) MBO. The literature topics related to the overall research included strengths, weaknesses, limitations, and potential for future research. The literature review invovled searches of numerous databases, including (a) Google Scholar, (b) ProQuest Central, (c) Business Source Complete database, (d) EBSCO, (e) Emerald Management Journals, (f) ABI/INFORM Complete, and (g) Academic Search Complete. The keywords used to search for relevant literature included *project management, Information technology, project management failure, project management success, project management leadership,* and *management by objectives.* The review of the literature includes the conceptual framework of the MBO theory and the contributions of multiple seminal researchers whose work has grounded present-day IT project management strategies.

The study included 226 literature sources. Of the 226 sources, 67% were peerreviewed journals, and 68% of the literature reflected publication dates between 2015 and 2020, less than 5 years from the completion of this study (see Table 1).

#### Table 1

Reference type	Total	< 5 years	>5 Years	% Total < 5
				years old
Peer-reviewed journal	170	90	80	53%
Dissertation	8	8	0	100%
Books	52	35	17	67%
Conference paper	6	3	3	50%
Total	236	136	100	59%

Literature Review Source Content

The research provided a review of the literature on project management and the link between project management principles and project success. Project management



principles set the foundation for project managers and are necessary when charting a path to project success. The research included a review of the link between project management and IT and the uniqueness of IT projects.

The study also included a review of the literature to link the findings of MBO theory to current practices. The MBO theory focuses on achieving goals by setting individual objectives and managing the process by assessing and communicating the performance of an individual regularly until the organizational goals are obtained (Drucker, 1954). I used the literature review to link the findings of these theorists to current practices in project management. Project management has taken concepts from the MBO theory related to the management of activities and has continued to develop its practices over the years (Yang et al., 2016).

#### **Information Technology**

IT is a set of tools, processes, and methodologies used to collect and process information to enhance business operations (Kasemsap, 2016). Throughout history, IT has helped to make life easier. The four IT ages of technology history are premechanical, mechanical, electromechanical, and electronic (Mukherjee & Ghosh, 2018) listed in Table 2. The premechanical, mechanical, and electromechanical ages were influential but were not directly relevant to the study of modern IT project management. The electronic age is a vital and integral tool for business leaders as they implement business strategies.

IT has a direct impact on business and provides organizations with the flexibility to add more powerful and less expensive options. Business leaders use IT to drive efficiency and innovation for business success (Chae et al., 2018). IT improves efficiency



through decision making and the development of innovative tools to solve complex business problems (Setyowati, 2018). Literature regarding leaders' success with IT has been ongoing since the year 2000 bug (Y2K) or millennium bug. Still, research has not focused on the project manager's ability to plan and execute IT projects under budget and on time. Business leaders use innovation to drive efficiency to increase their competitive advantage. Therefore, the reasons why IT projects fail, and the SDLC phases were essential discussions that align with this study.

# Table 2

Ages	Dates	Description
Premechanical	3000 BC to 1450 AD.	Utilization of written communication since most communication conducted through speaking and pictures.
Mechanical	1450- 1840	Utilization of machinery and objects to compute numbers, differences, and measurements.
Electromechanical	1840 to 1940	The early stages of telecommunication and the harnessing of electricity.
Electronic	1940s-Present	Utilization of vacuum tubes and electronic equipment along with the introduction of computers.

#### Information Technology History

#### Information Technology Projects

IT projects are temporary endeavors that have an impact or dependency on an organization's information systems (Turner & Muller, 2003). Through the implementation of IT projects, business leaders may increase their organization's capabilities, processes, and security (Taylor et al., 2016). IT projects often are used to



11

achieve an organization's business strategic goals and objectives through technical innovation (Standing et al., 2016). IT projects are typically more complex and unique due to the speed at which technology is changing. IT projects are typically unique efforts for an organization and are not performed routinely, which adds to the complexity of an IT project (Urbanek, 2016).

In 2014, hackers accessed Sony's systems erased data, stole consumer data, and gained access to corporate information (Sullivan, 2016). Security threats similar to those suffered by Sony presented the need for IT projects to support business operations in the areas of data integrity, cloud computing, mobile operational process services, and products (Gupta & Mata-Toledo, 2016). Launching an IT project involves multiple technology groups working together to deliver a product (Durney & Donnelly, 2015).

There are multiple ways to manage an information technology project that impacts the project life cycle. Project managers have the option to choose from one of the life cycle approaches identified in Table 3 to help reduce the risk of failure, account for changing technology, and prevent a prolonged burdensome planning process too early in the project. Similar to project management, the life cycle phases of an IT project are planning, executing, and controlling through to production (Artto et al., 2016).



# Table 3

IT project management life cycles	Description
Predictive life cycle	The predictive life cycle is similar to the project management waterfall approach due to its linear approach. The scope, schedule, and costs are identified before the project execution phase (Wahyudi et al., 2018).
Iterative life cycle	In the iterative life cycle, the items with the highest priority items are planned first, and benefits are released to the organization incrementally (Wahyudi et al., 2018).
Adaptive life cycle	An adaptive life cycle is a flexible approach that is similar to the Agile project management method that manages flexibility and constant change (Wahyudi et al., 2018).

Information Technology Project Management Life Cycles

As organizational leaders move to a more application-centric focus to accomplish business goals, the number of IT projects increases, and the project manager must manage them differently. Therefore, IT project managers must have a unique set of project management tools and techniques to accomplish them. Large IT projects can be more challenging and complex as a result of the rapidly changing technology that could impact the project. As a result of the complexity of IT projects, the dependence on organizational goals, and the constantly changing IT environment, project managers must focus on identifying the strategies that best prevent IT project failure.

# Information Technology Project Failures

Ensuring that IT project implementations are successful is a high priority for project stakeholders. Many researchers have focused on the strategies for project success,



but there is limited research that explores the factors that lead to IT project failures (Hosch, 2016). According to Rajkumar and Alagarsamy (2013), a project is considered a failure when the project outcomes do not provide the desired results.

Winter et al. (2019) found that 71% of IT projects fail. However, based on the research conducted by Sudhakar (2016), most IT project failures are avoidable and can be predicted. According to Rajkumar and Alagarsamy (2013), there is not a single factor that leads to IT project failure. However, some common factors are changes in requirements and scope, lack of senior management commitment, and lack of project management skills. Zarndt (2011) identified seven of the most common critical failure factors for IT projects (see Table 4).



# Table 4

IT failure factors	Description
Poor planning	Lack of preparation and understanding
	of the scope and risk of the project.
Unclear goals and objectives	The purpose of the initiative is not
	adequately defined, causing unclear
	project success criteria.
Continuous scope changes	Commonly known as scope creep.
	When the user requirements of an
	initiative are uncontrolled and change
	the original scope unexpectedly.
An unrealistic time or resource	Setting unrealistic deadlines that do
estimates	factor in project constraints, risks, and
	complex factors that could negatively
	impact the project schedule.
Lack of senior management support	The lack of stakeholder support can be
	a decelerator to a project as opposed to
	the benefit of helping to remove
	roadblocks
Failure to communicate and work	Lack of communication causes
together as a team	confusion and unnecessary tension that
	takes the focus away from the overall
	goal.

Failure Factors for Information Technology Projects

Organizations leverage IT to gain a competitive advantage, but most do not plan for failure, they only plan for success. Even though in 2015 only 29% of IT project implementations were successful and 19% were considered utter failures (Hastie & Wojewoda, 2015). Project managers are in a position to reduce the risk of IT project failures by implementing project management strategies that identify project risks before they become issues and negatively impact the project. IT is improving rapidly, and as a result, there are multiple IT initiatives business leaders strive to implement; the practice



of project management can help organizational leaders implement IT initiatives successfully.

## **Project Management**

According to Darling and Whitty (2016), project planning and project management have significantly evolved. Project management has had an influence on history as evidenced in projects such as the Great Pyramid of Giza, the transcontinental railroad, and the One World Trade Center (Lew, 2015). Project management support is a foundation for the development, launch, and maintenance of technology programs (Seymour & Hussein, 2014). A review of the literature on the history of project management, the concepts of project management, project management effectiveness, and project failure and success aides in an understanding of the strategies associated with project management.

Gantt is the father of modern project management. Gantt introduced modern project management in 1958 and developed planning and control techniques to help business leaders succeed (as cited in Seymour & Hussein, 2014). After WWII, project managers began to research new ways to conduct and manage projects. As a result, the U.S. Navy developed the program evaluation review technique (PERT) in the 1950s, and DuPont developed the critical path methods (Samman & Brahemi, 2014). Project managers use the program evaluation review technique to analyze individual tasks by asserting a minimum amount of time for completion (Samman & Brahemi, 2014). Project managers use critical path methods to assess the time frame for long-range activities and the relationship between the activities and the endpoints (Seymour & Hussein, 2014). In



1996, Project Management Institute (PMI) published the PMBOK, and in 1998 the American National Standards Institute recognized the PMBOK as the standard for project management (Seymour & Hussein, 2014). One of the objectives of the PMBOK is to identify the different functional project management knowledge areas that define a set of concepts, terms, and actions that make up an area of project specialization (Besner & Hobbs, 2012). The 10 knowledge areas identified in Table 5 are integration management, project scope management, project time management, project cost management, project quality management, project human resource management, project communications management, project risk management, project procurement management, and project stakeholder management (Oun et al., 2016).



# Table 5

Knowledge areas	Description
Project integration management	Relates to tasks that ensure project components are coordinated and managed (Strucker, 2018).
Project scope management	Refers to the deliverables and features required in a project.
Project time management	Refers to taking into
	account the project tasks necessary to achieve the completion of the project on time (Leal et al., 2018).
Project cost management	Focuses on activities for estimating, budgeting, and managing the project cost (Poorhassan, 2020).
Project quality management	Focuses on the process of ensuring that project outcomes align with the expected objectives (Badiru et al., 2018).
Project human resource management	Relates to acquiring the right team, ensuring their satisfaction, and tracking their performance.
Project communication management	Identifies the information communicated to the team, the primary contacts to, and who will use the information effectively.
Project risk management	Analyzing, assessing, and developing a plan to reduce factors that might cause negative impacts throughout the project lifecycle (Titarenko et al., 2018).
Project procurement management	Relates to the procurement of resources required from an outside source.
Project stakeholder management	Identifies stakeholder role and their impact on the project (Dansoh et al., 2020).

Project Management Knowledge Areas



# **Projects and Project Management**

A project is a temporary endeavor that has a beginning, a middle, and end to create a unique product or service (El-Sayegh & Al-Haj, 2017). The primary characteristic of a project is its uniqueness and temporary nature. An endeavor can be unique, but if it does not have an end date to produce an output, then the effort is not a project, and if the effort is not unique, then it can be considered a routine process. Project management is the practice of PMI's skills and techniques and implementation of their knowledge areas to achieve a defined objective. According to Kerzner (2017), project management is a management concept that focuses on planning, organizing, directing, and controlling all aspects of a project to achieve a goal or objective.

Organizational leaders who do not take advantage of project management are not taking full advantage of their success opportunities (Blaskovics, 2016). Project management helps organizations gain a competitive advantage by implementing innovative initiatives (Isharyanto et al., 2015). According to Darling and Whitty (2016), project management principles provide project managers with the ability to enhance the speed of project delivery that may result in profitability.

#### **Project Success Criteria**

The project manager is instrumental in the success or failure of multiple and varied projects (Zahra et al., 2014). Project managers are responsible for project success, and the strategies they implement influence project results (Anantatmula, 2015). A project manager must possess the ability to identify critical and noncritical paths, excel at managing all facets of the project work tasks, and adjust strategies based on project type



to prevent the multiple factors that can lead to project failure (Krahn & Hartment, 2006). Njogu et al. (2018) studied the critical success factors of projects. They concluded that project success has a direct correlation to the project outcomes or deliverables aligning with project sponsor expectations and the project manager's ability to leverage lessons learned from previous projects. Project managers continue to search for project management strategies through conferences, training, seminars, and workshops.

If project managers better understand the concept of project management outlined in the PMBOK, they may be better aligned to develop strategies to reduce their project failures rates. By understanding the concepts of project management, the project manager may be in a better position to identify best practices proven to be successful (Kerzner, 2017). Although the definition of success has expanded, business owners still measure success against how well they meet their business owner's expectations, this has become difficult as IT project managers are responsible for complex and unique projects.

Many researchers have theorized the meaning of project success, and the multiple definitions have made it difficult for organizations to truly determine a failed or successful project (Alias et al., 2014). In the early years of project management, one of the first measures to determine project success was the iron triangle. According to Berssaneti and Carvalho (2015), when a project falls within the triple constraints (or commonly called *Iron Triangle*) organizations. Each segment of the iron triangle can have a direct impact on the other and contribute to project success (Serrador & Turner, 2015). As Berssaneti and Carvalho (2015) stated, the iron triangle defines the boundaries for which project managers determine success.



Once literary research grew around the definition of project success, new theories began to emerge that expanded the notion of the iron triangle's limits on the meaning of project success. Researchers began to identify that organizations were acknowledging projects success outside of the iron triangle constraints (Serrador & Turner, 2015). Cullen and Parker (2015) contended that the triple constraints of the iron triangle alone are not a fair assessment of project success. Van der Hoorn and Whitty (2015) suggested that the determination of project success is limited because it does not align with the lived experience of projects and is too simplistic. As a result, project managers began to include additional success criteria.

Research contributions have identified the emergence of two major themes in the criteria to define project success; stakeholder acceptance and the critical success factors. Stakeholder acceptance is the determination of whether a project has been successful as determined by the stakeholders. According to Albert et al. (2017), stakeholders place different importance on the outcomes, and therefore their definition of project success can vary. Albert et al. (2017) noted that some stakeholders might consider the project a success based on functionality, and others may use part of the criteria from the iron triangle. Given the subjectivity of stakeholder acceptance, project managers must ensure they clearly define measures of success for each key stakeholder. According to Deeba and Kureshi (2017), a project increases the level of success when stakeholder expected outcomes are defined.

There is increased research regarding the factors that influence a project's success. Critical success factors are the variables that impact projects and lead to project success



(Yamin & Sim, 2016). Pinto and Slevin (1987), identified the following factors as critical to project success:

- Project mission,
- top management support,
- the project schedule or plan,
- client consultation,
- personnel,
- technical tasks,
- client acceptance,
- monitoring and feedback
- communication, and
- troubleshooting

Expanding on the critical success factors identified by Pinto and Slevin (1987), Gollner and Baumane-Vitolina (2016) identified additional success factors that impact IT Projects such as project management, time, and budget, ERP system quality, user satisfaction, and economic value. Recently Yamin and Sim (2016) identified that there was a positive correlation between the critical success variables and project success. There are many ways to evaluate a project's success, such as the iron triangle and stakeholder acceptance. However, limited research is available regarding the impact of variables to project success.



# Why Projects Fail

According to Dai and Wells (2004), despite the maturity of project management and the well-known benefits, project failure rates remain high. A project must identify and manage the risks that can attribute to project failure to be effective. Although project management has made many advances in project management, where Champion organizations have an 80% success rate, multiple underperformers have a 24% success rate of projects completed within the original cost and timelines established (Florentine, 2017). Wagner's (2016) research defined project failure as the instance when deliverables do not align with expected outcomes to stay on budget and to deliver the expected requirements on time. According to Sudhakar (2016), poor planning, poor communication, and a project manager's inability to manage scope are common causes of project failure (see table 6).

## Table 6

Project failure reasons	Description
Poor planning	Failure to identify scope and project success or failure at the initial stage of the process.
Lack of communication	Failure to effectively translate information that is easy to understand.
Scope creep	Uncontrolled changes to a project's requirements or deliverable

# **Poor Planning**

According Alami (2016), poor planning is a failure to identify scope and project success or failure at the initial stage of the process. Project managers develop a plan early



in the project to provide an outline of the project steps needed for increased success. The project provides the project manager a foundation to follow. Robbins (2019) revealed that many projects fail due to poor planning. According to Shivakumar (2018), poor planning will cause poor schedule management, misaligned budgets, and failure to meet stakeholder expectations, each of these items can cause project failure. Despite the high failure rate due to a lack of planning, this step is often skipped or poorly executed due to a need to achieve the desired deadline. Failure to plan is a misguided practice, and the project manager must be intentional about planning out the major steps in the project. Project managers can avoid the pressure of skipping planning by including the task in the project schedule and requiring formal signoff before moving to project execution.

#### Lack of Communication

Lack of communication on a project occurs when there is a failure to effectively translate information timely in an understandable manner to project stakeholders (Zoder, 2019). Proper communication is critical for project managers; poor communication on a project can have a negative impact on project success (Gamil et al., 2019). When there is a lack of communication in a project, and there is a failure to report project status, project changes, or project stakeholders may start making assumptions that lead to a misalignment of expectation and the determination of project success. Project managers typically develop a communication plan that outlines who should receive information, when and how information should be received, and the type of information provided about a project (Butt et al., 2016). This type of communication allows the project



manager to ensure there are no gaps in knowledge around the project and adapt the information for each stakeholder group.

## Scope Creep

A project's scope defines the output or features delivered at the end of a project (Shahibi et al., 2019). Providing the items identified in the scope plays a significant part in determining project success. The scope is typically confirmed in the planning process and drives the work activities and estimates for the project. However, scope creep occurs when uncontrolled changes occur in the project scope (Ajmal et al., 2019). The fail point is when the changes are requested or made to the scope and estimates, and expectations with project stakeholders are not adjusted. The definition of success now differs from the project team and the key stakeholders. They primarily determine project success or failure. In order to avoid this risk, project managers develop a scope management plan that defines the scope and how it managed. The plan helps project managers ensure that stakeholders understand the impact scope changes have on the original project outcomes.

#### **Project Management Effectiveness**

Project effectiveness centers on doing the right thing (Drucker, 1954). Effectiveness in projects implies supporting the organizational and stakeholder goals by implementing successful products that will increase bottom lines and the ability to compete (O' Regan, 2017). Browning and Yassine (2016) proposed that project effectiveness and success indicators help to visualize the portfolio through the use of multiple criteria. Goal clarity is also a fundamental variable that can promote project



success (Stelson et al., 2017). Project managers use the past experiences of other project managers to develop best practices to enhance the chances of project success (Davies & Brady, 2016).

Organization leaders are implementing project management approaches that align with the long-term strategic plan. Effective project managers achieve objectives successfully by planning and organizing resources. According to Muller et al., (2012), successful project managers use their technical skills and interpersonal skills to meet project objectives. According to Alkhuraiji et al. (2016), project managers are more effective when they use previously successful strategies. The successful implementation of an IT project requires project managers to understand business objectives and use project management strategies to increase the effectiveness of the business (Chipulu et al., 2014). IT project success heavily relies on the effectiveness of a project manager's ability to implement project management strategies.

#### Effective Project Leadership

The effectiveness and competence of a project manager is an essential factor in the successful outcome of a project. Organizations want influential project leaders they can trust who will see the project through to successful completion (Blaskovics, 2016). The ability of project managers to use multiple leadership skills contributes to the success of the projects. According to Henkel et al. (2019), project managers that are effective leaders increase their chances of successful project implementation. Projects can vary depending on complexity, risk, and support resources, and success can depend on the ability of a project manager to adapt their leadership skills and use multiple strategies



(Müller & Turner, 2010). The ability to use multiple project management leadership skills, as identified in Table 7 and their use of project management strategies, measures a project manager's effectiveness as a project leader (Marsh, 2018). The ability to adjust their skills based on the project needs and the organizational environment measures a project manager's competence.

# Table 7

Project management skills	Description
Communication and interpersonal skills	The ability to effectively translate
	information and relate to people at
	different levels of an organization.
The ability to inspire others for a common	The ability to understand the vision and
goal	effectively provide that vision to others.
Excellent decision maker	The ability to adapt and quickly make
	business decisions.
Delegation	Understanding of team member's skills
C C	and abilities and allowing them to carry
	out specific tasks.
Problem solver	The ability to be creative and find ways to
	resolve difficult questions.
Positive attitude/motivator	An optimistic attitude toward team
	members can impact their mental thinking
	to motivate and drive promising results.
Honesty	The ability to be honest to gain the trust of
	a team (Marsh, 2018).
Competence	The ability to gain the respect of a team
	by demonstrating a knowledge of one's
	skills and abilities.
Stress management	The ability to remain calm and reason in
	high-pressure situations.
Team Building	The ability to build a productive and
	creative environment through
	communications and a focus on goals.
	6



The project managers who are most effectively utilizing the skills identified in table 7 at various stages in the project have learned the art of adjusting their skill sets based on the project needs. A project can vary based on size, complexity, and risks, among other factors, and a project manager must understand that the skills and competencies for project managers are very different (Krahn & Hartment, 2006). When a project manager can demonstrate an ability to adapt to larger and more complex projects in the face of uncertainty, their initiatives can have a higher chance of project success. The need to implement projects successfully in fast-paced environments and through uncertainty is especially important in the insurance industry.

## **Project Management in the Insurance Industry**

Companies in the insurance industry offer risk management solutions to cover uncertain events (Sachs, 2018). Some common categories of insurance companies are accident and health and property and casualty. Insurance companies are required to meet regulatory standards that require a continual change in their processes and systems to stay compliant (Klein, 2005). Insurance companies are highly competitive, and companies must stay current with the processes and technologies to maintain a competitive advantage (Cappiello, 2018). The need to thrive with the constant changing and competitive nature of the industry has caused the companies to implement project management programs (Edwards, 2018). However, according to Edwards (2018), project success rates are lower in the insurance industry due to a lack of planning projects, project resources, scope/requirements, regulatory understanding, and communication. The research revealed that insurance companies that have standard project management



practices achieve a strategic advantage over their competitors who have no formal project management practice in place (Jugdev, 2005). According to Sarkar and Locatelli (2018), implementing project management best practices helps organizations such as insurance companies improve their performance and achieve their desired goals to obtain a competitive advantage. Unfortunately, there is a lack of literature on project management in the insurance industry; the research helped build upon the literature that connects project management and the insurance industry.

## System Development Life Cycle

Research on IT projects, in general, has shown that project management following the SDLC and the MBO can increase project success. The SDLC is a process used in conjunction with IT projects and defines the sequential stages of IT projects (Mustaquim & Nyström, 2015). Each of the phase's goal is to provide useful planning for the project team. Proper planning and project management will allow teams to deliver the product on time and minimize the costs. The phases include (a) requirements analysis, (b) design, (c) development, (d) integration and testing, and (e) deployment and maintenance (Church et al., 2016). Each phase is dependent upon another and can be impacted by multiple external factors. Each phase of the SDLC is critical to the overall success of IT projects. Project managers are responsible for breaking down each of the phases into smaller, more manageable tasks when building the project plan (Locatelli et al., 2017). There is a dependency between each phase of the SDLC. A clear understanding of the results of each phase is required to ensure the successful outcome of each phase and the overall



project (Aljohani & Qureshi, 2016). However, many IT projects fail to successfully execute the project plan, despite having the SDLC as a guide to support implementation.

# **Requirements Analysis**

The requirements analysis is the first phase of the SDLC and is the collection of user business requirements; the emphasis is on identifying the needs of the system (Sharma, 2017). Project managers ensure that the software developed in projects meet business objectives. Project managers and business analysts hold discussions with stakeholders to understand the problem, and the information received is translated into formal requirements documents (Sharma, 2017). The formal requirements document is reviewed for validity and as input for the design phase of the SDLC. The output of requirement analysis is a complete and comprehensive description of the behavior of the software to be developed (Roy et al., 2016).

## Design

In the design, phase developers and technical architects begin the high-level design of the software and system requirements and transform the requirements into detailed system design specifications (Karim et al., 2017). The goal of this phase is to transform the requirement specification into a structure or plan. The design specifications provide a detailed overview of the system (Sharma, 2017). The output of this phase is the software design document (Karim et al., 2017). Once the design of the specifications, features, and operational setup are approved, the development team begins the next phase of the SDLC.



# **Development**

The development phase is the start of production. Developers begin coding the design specifications according to the user requirements and the design specifications (Sharma, 2017). The developers use the design(s) to ensure the system is appropriately organized by creating and reviewing code and deploying software to an environment for testing (Church et al., 2016). The output of the development phase is program code (Church et al., 2016). After the development phase, unit integration and testing are the next phases of the SDLC.

### Integration and Testing

Integration and testing is the longest phase of the SDLC and designed to understand and review the actual versus expected results from the output of the application. Quality assurance (QA) professionals bring different components and subsystems together to create the whole integrated system, introduce the system to different inputs to obtain and analyze its outputs, and assess the behavior and the way it functions (Kazim, 2017). System tests check for defects and interoperability (Kazim, 2017). Project teams have also taken advantage of automated testing tools to ensure that testing outcomes are predicted and meet the desired project objectives (Mittal, 2016). Testing repeats until all errors have been identified and fixed, and once the system is confirmed, it is ready to move to the implementation and maintenance phase of the SDLC.

## **Deployment and Maintenance**



Deployment and maintenance is the final phase and begins once all defects have been resolved and tested (Sharma, 2017). After the software release to production, a maintenance team evaluates the release for any post-production issues. The goal of software maintenance is to remove errors or bugs, change platform requirements, and add new features to existing software to ensure that the existing software application continues to meet business owner needs (Kazim, 2017). Project managers that manage IT projects develop strategies that help align the project milestones with the outputs of each phase of the SDLC to avoid project failure (Kiswani et al., 2017).

#### SDLC and Project Management

The project management methodology and the SDLC share similar benefits of dividing efforts into manageable parts and creating specific milestones and deliverables as measures of success (Lee & Wong, 2018). Despite the commonalities, there are a few differences between the project management life cycle and the SDLC. The project management lifecycle starts with initiation, which is a direct correlation to the requirements phase of the SDLC. To complete the planning phase, it is necessary to fully define and gather requirements to ensure the results align with expectations (Church et al., 2016). The activities conducted in the planning phase are similar to the activities in the design phase of the SDLC (Mustaquim & Nyström, 2015). The execution phase of the system development lifecycle phase (Blake, 2004). The project management closeout phase in the project management process does not map directly to the SDLC. Project managers can add value to IT projects and the SDLC phases through their support of similar



activities such as writing a performance work statement, requirements analysis, system testing, and scope management (Church et al., 2016). It is a project manager's job to make sure the teams uphold project management and systems development standards.

### Management by Objectives

Business leaders aim to improve project performance by identifying tools, techniques, and processes that allow them to set defined objectives. The search for another business approach motivated management theorist Peter Drucker to develop MBO theory and preempt the mainstream emergence of modern project management (Drucker, 1954). Peter Drucker (1954) defined management as an organized body of knowledge, and his MBO theory refers to a system in which overall objectives are stated and agreed upon. Drucker emphasized agreement between management and the employees on the objectives and what they need to do to achieve the desired objectives (Yang et al., 2016).

The process of MBO involves managers and employees determining objectives, periodic review of the progress toward the objectives, evaluation of results, and allocating rewards based on the progress made (Drucker, 1954). The manager assures that the employee's objectives align with the objectives of the department and the organization and encourages employee involvement early in the planning process to motivate the team and gain commitment to achieve desired results. (Drucker, 1954). Drucker (1954) identified five management steps that enhance project effectiveness and overall success

Managers develop objectives from business goals. According to Drucker (1954), managers can consider how their unit's objectives assist other units in meeting their



objectives and how anticipated contributions from other units will help to meet their unit's objectives. Business leaders who lose sight of organizational objectives become too get involved in their current activities and lose sight of their goals, Drucker defined the process as the activity trap (Drucker, 1954; Onyeike & Eseyin, 2018). Peter Drucker used the SMART (Specific, Measurable, Acceptable, Realistic, and Time-bound) goals to define objectives. According to Drucker (1954), objectives should be clear and recognizable, and employees should understand their part in achieving the organizational objectives.

# Table 8

Management by Objectives Process

MBO steps	Description
Define organizational objectives	The identification of activities and goals
	in which outcomes align with the mission and vision.
Translate organizational objectives	Providing the organizational objectives to
	employees and ensuring the objectives are specific, measurable, acceptable, realistic,
	and time-bound.
Stimulate the participation of employees	Motivate employees to participate by
	encouraging them to set and commit to
	personal objectives that help achieve the objectives of the organization.
Monitor progress of objectives	An assessment of the progress and
	performance of the objectives established
	to ensure alignment with the goals and expectations.
Evaluate and reward achievements	Feedback to employees regarding their
	performance and the recognition of their
	achievements.

In addition to Drucker's (1954) MBO theory, Edwin Locke (Locke & Latham,

1990) pioneered a similar objectives-based theory called the goal setting and motivation



theory. Locke and Latham (2013) asserted that specific and ambitious goals lead to performance improvement. Locke and Latham (1990) argued that working toward a goal is also a significant source of motivation. Locke and Latham (2013) affirmed that goal setting increases motivation, which leads to better performance, as well as improving the quality of feedback. Goal-setting theory is a technique used to raise incentives for employees to complete work quickly and effectively (Locke & Latham, 2013). In line with these theory project managers set goals early (deliverable or scope) in a project to determine success, the known success criteria may motivate resources to complete their specific work on time or early.

Although some researchers view the MBO theory as dated, Drucker evolved his theory. Project managers put into practice the core principles of Drucker's goal-setting theory as they align project-specific goals with some self-development or team-based goals, and use those to motivate their teams (Zwikael et al., 2018). In 1981 George Doran introduced the concept of the SMART goals, a method that included the principles from Drucker and Locke, and provides a clear and straightforward framework to define and manage goals and objectives (Ogbeiwi, 2017).

Walthour (2018) evaluated strategies NHAs use to improve regulation compliance, mitigating potential deficiencies, and derivative fines to promote financial sustainability. Data was collected using semistructured interviews with four NHAs and from Medicare's Nursing Home Compare website. The researcher chose Drucker's MBO theory for their conceptual framework because it provided a lens through which to evaluate successful strategies that NHAs use to improve state and federal regulation



compliance to mitigate potential deficiencies and derivative fines to promote financial sustainability. MBO involves a manager and employee collaboration in the planning process to improve efficiency and communication to achieve desired results. Walthour's (2018) findings support Drucker's theory around collaboration and communication between employee and manager and revealed three major themes: develop knowledgeable staff, enhance communication with staff and residents, and promote innovation for continuous quality improvement. Drucker's MBO theory uses goal setting and frequent communication to help successfully achieve the goals needed for project success (Kuster et al., 2015). This study applies to my researcher because I want to determine strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry and provide improved results.

### Alternative Viewpoints & Critique of MBO

Using the MBO theory, Drucker (1954) focused on managing the process that improves organizational performance through the use of clearly defined objectives. Transformational leadership theorist James McGregor Burns (1998) suggested that leaders contribute to critical organizational outcomes rather than focus on objectives. Although MBO focuses more on management, the transformational leadership theory focuses on extracting the best out of employees as they work as a single unit towards a common goal.

Although Drucker's theory has been adopted and accepted by many, there have been critics of the theory. Edward Deming, the founder of the management theory, found that setting production targets influenced workers to meet established goals through



whatever means necessary, which usually results in poor quality (Corbacioglu, 2016). According to Castellano and Roehm (2001, 03) Deming argued that when organizations follow the MBO theory setting goals like may lead workers to focus on only meeting those goals and which could negatively impact quality. Many researchers have contended that the MBO does not support optimation because it breeds in competition between employees, selfishness, and a lack motivation (Castellano & Roehm, 2001). Deming identified that goals setting through the use of numerical goals and targets to control people and processes do not properly motivate employees and creates adversarial relationships and low quality (Deming, 2018).

In addition, Levinson (2003) also was a critic of the MBO theory and focused on Herzberg's (1959) findings that individuals are most deeply motivated by work that stretches and excites them while also advancing organizational goals. Levinson (2003) also argued that MBO fails to take adequately into account the deeper emotional components of motivation. Similar to Deming, Levinson (2003) considered the MBO to be a self-defeating theorydue to a limited choice of objectives and the increased pressure on the individual. Although the MBO process is inclusive and designed to be selfmotivating for employees, Levinson (2003) contends that the individual's needs and desires are absent from the MBO theory and assumes that these are in perfect alignment with corporate goals. Levinson and Deming both agree that the MBO theory does not take into account employee motivations and negatively impact quality.

Drucker (1954) identified the MBO theory as a concept that focuses on goal setting to ensure project success, and according to Deming et al. (2018), the management



theory targets the concept that focuses on how people understand where their effort or output fits into the achieving the overall goal. Drucker (1954) defined project management success as achieving the goals of the effort. Drucker (1954) outlined how project managers could improve their performance and reduce IT project failure by employing effective manage time, identifying the strategic decisions that contribute to the growth, and connecting management variables to effective decision making.

## **Project Management and MBO**

Project management and the MBO theory are similar; the primary principles focus on defining objectives to achieve a goal. As with project management, the MBO theory helps one identify why, when, and how to accomplish objectives. Drucker (1954) described MBO as a method of allowing management and employees to concentrate on achievable objectives to maximize resources to yield the highest possible results. Drucker's MBO theory has had a direct influence on project management as it developed its phased approach of initiation, planning, execution, control and monitoring, and closing.

In the planning phase, project managers use the scope management process to define the objectives of an effort and assign resources to specific tasks or objectives in the overall planning process (Oun et al., 2016). Scope management is the part of project planning that involves determining and documenting a list of specific project goals, deliverables, features, functions, tasks, deadlines, and ultimately costs (Besner & Hobbs, 2012). Organizational leaders can avoid the activity trap by identifying goals at both the individual and team levels and actively managing those goals (Drucker, 1954). After



organizational leaders establish the scope and goals, they must communicate the expectations and goals to employees so they can buy-in to the effort to ensure the overall successful delivery of the organizational goals and projects (Zwikael et al., 2018). An advantage of the MBO theory is the motivation of employees when the organizational objectives are discussed and shared with the employees of the organization so that everyone will know what the expectations set for them (Islami et al., 2018). When an organization expands the decision-making responsibility, the result is motivated employees who want to solve the problems they are faced within an intelligent manner; while remaining flexible in the changing circumstances (Irawanto, 2015). The participatory process ensures that stakeholders are actively engaged in the decision-making process and clear on all the organizational objectives (Hassenforder et al., 2015).

The evaluation and monitoring phase in the MBO theory set the stage for the monitoring and control phase of project management (Drucker, 1954). Project managers evaluate and monitor the progress of their effort. Project monitoring is a fundamental but mandatory phase for any project manager (Blaskovics, 2016). To ensure project success, project managers must update stakeholders on the project progress through reports and regularly assessing progress related to scope, benchmark goals, timeline, and budget helps ensure project success (Davies & Brady, 2016). Monitoring allows management to assess whether the progress aligns with the intended objectives; evaluation focuses on the data and information by the monitoring system to analyze trends and impact on the project (Kerzner, 2017). Drucker's MBO theory is a natural fit for project managers because it uses goal setting and frequent communication to help successfully achieve the



39

goals needed for project success (Kuster et al., 2015). Drucker's MBO theory provides a lens through which I can explore successful strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry.

## Transition

In Section 1, I outlined why the topic of project management strategies and their use or lack thereof impact project failure is a relevant business topic with brief explanations of the background, problem, and purpose statements, as well as the nature of the study. Additionally, I outlined the research question, interview questions, conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations, as well as the significance of the study. I also included a literature review, organized into four main themes: (a) project management, (b) information technology, (c) systems development life cycle, and (d) MBO.

In section 2, I outlined the role of the researcher and provide a more detailed explanation of the project components, as well as the rationale for the decisions. In Section 2, I also included the criteria for participants, the chosen research method, design, and population to achieve a study sample. Section 2 included the explanation of how data collection instruments and techniques, data organization and analysis, and methods are used to achieve trustworthiness.

As part of Section 3, I described the outcomes of the project, including a presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, and recommendations for further research. Finally,



section 3 included reflections and conclusions regarding successful IT project management strategies.



### Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I include an overview of the study methodology and a description of the qualitative method. Section 2 also includes the purpose statement of the study. I then discuss the role of the researcher and describe the participants in the study, along with a discussion of the research method and design, population and sampling, and ethical research. I concluded Section 2 by discussing data collection instruments, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry. The target population consisted of four IT project managers who have successfully used strategies to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry located in Alabama. The contributions to social change may include the improvement of project performance and reduce financial risks. A reduction in the number of failed IT projects can improve organizational performance and the economy, ultimately providing a positive impact on society.

### **Role of the Researcher**

An essential part of this study was the role of the researcher. I was the primary data collection and analysis instrument. In this

study I explored the experiences of the participants related to the research question. The main research instrument for qualitative studies are researchers, and they are the primary individuals interacting with the participants (Cairney & St. Denny, 2015). The



semistructured interviews included probing (open-ended) questions, the use of audio to record the interviews, and follow-up interviews for clarification purposes. In qualitative studies, to encourage participants, the researcher uses semistructured interview protocols to discuss their experiences related to a phenomenon (Dumay & Qu, 2011).

Although I do have experience in the project management industry, I did not have a relationship with participants involved in the data collection. According to Kooskora (2013), prior knowledge of the project management industry is essential to the research process. The goal of this research study was to explore project management strategies used; therefore, knowledge of the existing project management practices was more important than having an in-depth relationship with the participants or organization in the study.

I followed the ethical principles and guidelines in the *Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). In the interactions with participants, I considered respect for persons, beneficence, justice, and equality. The informed consent and interview protocols allow for confidentiality, and the lack of incentives offered mitigated potential ethical risks (Check et al., 2014). As the researcher, I ensured participant confidentiality was maintained to align with the guidelines of the *Belmont Report* and the research ethical guidelines identified by Walden's Institutional Review Board.

To avoid researcher bias, I used an interview protocol to ensure the same interview process and questions for each interview. The interview protocol is a sevenstep collection process that ensures that the same procedure for each interview is



followed (Yin, 2017). The interview protocol steps included: (a) opening statements, (b) semistructured interview questions, (c) probing questions, (d) participant verify themes, (e) follow-up questions, and (f) record reflexive notes (Yin, 2017). I followed the same protocol steps identified by Yin. The interview questions were open-ended, allowing for more detailed responses. Researcher bias was managed by using the member checking technique. Member checking is a technique that researchers use to provide the participants with the ability to validate findings from the research by providing feedback and correction (Harvey, 2015). Therefore, member checking and the use of interview protocols ensured the accuracy of the data captured and avoided researcher bias influencing results to portray a specific outcome.

## **Participants**

To be eligible to participate in the study, participants were Project Management Professional (PMP) certified, had a minimum of 3 years of experience managing IT projects in the United States, and were employed by the organization identified in the case study. A participant with a PMP certification has a full body of knowledge of project management practices and techniques (Blaskovics, 2016). To ensure I captured a variety of experiences, there was no limitation related to the number of years a participant has managed projects. Participants with a PMP and with at least 3 years' experience in the project management field were relevant to the study because they know their organization and the project management skills and techniques to provide answers to the interview questions.



To gain access to participants, I visited a local Project Management Institute chapter meeting to network with members of the project management community. Once the interested parties agreed to participate, I made contact through a recruitment email. The email described the intent of the study, the participants needed, and the confidentiality measures. After I received consent, I sent the informed consent form to describe the intent of the study along with the interview questions. I requested an interview date and time.

In qualitative research, the researcher needs to establish trust with the participants to help ensure open and honest responses (Cope, 2014). Yin (2017) suggested that to maintain a conversational and casual tone during the interview, researchers must build rapport with participants. According to Ndimande (2012), building a relationship and trust with the participants will provide more in-depth responses and perspectives. To establish trust, I provided detailed explanations of all procedures, conducted in-person interviews, promoted knowledge sharing, and provided my contact information for follow up questions.

### **Research Method**

Research methods and design are critical components of a doctoral study. The selection of the qualitative method for this study was appropriate because of the intent to explore strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry. The qualitative method was used by researchers to explore a phenomenon to gain an understanding of underlying reasons, opinions, and motivations (Avgousti, 2013). The qualitative method allows researchers the ability to ask probing questions to better



understand the participant's motivation and feelings (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). When using the qualitative method, I was able to understand the current practices of project managers and gain an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon from various perspectives.

With the quantitative research method, researchers can examine the relationship between variables and analyze the relationship mathematically through statistical analysis (Thamhain, 2014). Researchers use statistical analysis tools to quantify data and generalize results from a sample (Yilmaz, 2013). The use of the quantitative method might have provided insight into the correlation of project failures to organizational cost overruns. Still, it would not have captured the strategies managers use to reduce IT project failure. The quantitative method was not appropriate because I did not use hypothesis testing to address the research question.

A mixed methods approach combines quantitative and qualitative methods (Nardi, 2018). Researchers use mixed methods to overcome the limitations of a single design (Caruth, 2013). Therefore, data is more comprehensive and can be used to overcome the weakness of both methods and use the strengths of each (Fielding, 2010). The mixed methods approach was not appropriate for this study because I did not focus on the relationship between independent and dependent variables associated with the quantitative approach found in mixed methods studies that use both the qualitative and quantitative approaches.



## **Research Design**

Researchers use the case study design to understand and explore a case that is bounded in time and place (Amerson, 2011). According to Dasgupta (2015), the case study design provides a narrow scope of a topic and determines if theories work in the real world. I used the multiple case study design for this research. I chose a multiple case study design because I gathered data presented from multiple experts and their many life and practical experiences implementing IT projects. Case studies can be exploratory, explanatory, or descriptive based on the reporting structures for the inquiry results (Yin, 2017). Explanatory case studies are presentations of reasons how or why a phenomenon came to be and can be presented with mixed methods to support a causal argument (Johansen et al., 2015). Descriptive case studies are introductory or illustrative presentations of a phenomenon and provide an in-depth description to develop a common language for use to describe a phenomenon (Vu et al., 2018). As a result, the descriptive multiple case study design was not appropriate for this study. Exploratory case studies are small in scope and provide insight into the appropriateness of interview questions and types of analysis (Blackburn, 2017). I used the exploratory multiple case study design to explore a phenomenon rather than a statistical survey.

Researchers use the phenomenological design to explore a phenomenon in human nature through the lived experiences of participants (Moustakas, 1994). Researchers also use the phenomenological design to avoid biases and assumptions about human experience to a particular phenomenon (Davidsen, 2013). The phenomenological design uses in-depth interviews with small samples of participants (Khan, 2014). A researcher



can make generalizations regarding what it is like to experience a particular phenomenon from lived experiences (Robertson & Thomson, 2014). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study because I did not focus on the life experiences of the participants, but multiple cases related to the phenomenon.

Researchers use the grounded theory design to develop theories to explain research data (Glaser, 1999). Researchers who use the grounded theory design do not start with a theory or model when beginning their research, the data collected helps construct the theory (Charmaz & Belgrave, 2019). Data collection and analysis for grounded theory occur at the same time (Reiter et al., 2011). The grounded theory design was not appropriate for this study because I did not plan to discover or generate new theories.

Researchers use the ethnography design to evaluate people and how they interact in a cultural setting (Lewis, 2015). Researchers use the ethnography research design to observe and interact with research participants and provide a deep understanding of the problem (Mannay & Morgan, 2015). Participant observation, interviews, and surveys are also a part of ethnography (Thierbach & Lorenz, 2014). The ethnography design was not appropriate as this study did not involve observation of a group in their cultural settings.

I ensured quality data collection through dfata saturation. The interview process continued until there was no additional information to be gained from the participants. I completed data gathering when I reached data saturation. According to Faulkner and Trotter (2017) data saturation occurs when no new themes or patterns emerge from the data.



### **Population and Sampling**

The target population for the study aligned with the overarching research question because it included certified IT project managers in the insurance industry located in Alabama that have experience managing IT Projects. According to Yin (2017), interview participants must be knowledgeable of the research questions, able to answer the research questions, and understand the research phenomenon in qualitative research. Based on the requirements identified by Yin, the target population for this study was appropriate for the study. I selected the participants for the study from the target population. I attended a public event hosted by a local project management group that consists of the target population project managers. The event was attended by certified project managers in the insurance industry, which meets the criteria to be eligible to participate in the study. I created a one-page overview (flyer) of the study to provide potential candidates while at the partner organization. When a volunteer showed interest, I emailed them the flyer that described the intent of the study, the participants needed, and the confidentiality measures.

A reasonable sample size is between three to six participants (Hackmann et al., 2017). According to Rowley (2012), the size of the population should be large enough to bring credibility, but not too large that it prevents the ability to provide detail and depth to the study. In qualitative studies, the appropriate sampling size depends on the nature and scope of the study, the quality of the interviews, sampling procedures, and the qualitative method used (Marshall et al., 2013). I used purposeful sampling to identify the multiple perspectives of four participants from an insurance company's Project



Management Office (PMO) in Alabama who met the established criteria. Purposeful sampling is a technique useful to narrow down the population by selecting participants based on their ability to answer the overarching research question (Palinkas et al., 2015). Purposeful sampling was appropriate for this study because I established a defined criteria for participation to ensure substantial data related to the research question was acquired. According to Yin (2017), purposeful sampling is used by qualitative researchers to select participants who are knowledgeable about the phenomenon.

According to Yin (2017), at least six in-depth interviews should provide enough data for data saturation. Data saturation is met when no new information can be gathered by analyzing more data (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I continued to interview participants until there was no additional information gathered from interviews. According to Robinson (2014), data saturation can occur with a size of ten or fewer participants. To ensure consistency, I used an interview protocol.

I provided each participant with the opportunity to choose the date, time, and location for their interview. A preferred location selected by the participants improves their involvement in the interview, allows for more comprehensive data, and reduces possible bias (Oltmann, 2016). When participants can choose their interview location, it can build a level of trust (Hoogesteyn et al., 2020). I conducted face-to-face interviews and provided telephone or video teleconference interview capabilities when needed. The interview settings were free from distraction, and I used a recorder to ensure accuracy. Rosenthal (2016) suggested researchers use record interviews and use the recordings to ensure accuracy of the interview transcriptions.



## **Ethical Research**

To ensure the ethical protection of the participants involved in the research, I followed three ethical objectives: respect for persons, beneficence, and justice. I used the informed consent process to gain consent from participants. Researchers use the informed consent process to ensure participants have an understanding of the research intent and allow participants to make a rational and informed decision about participation (Kadam, 2017). In addition to providing informed consent, I included the rights and responsibilities of both the researcher and participants, contact information for myself, and academic institution for questions, concerns, and withdrawal instructions from the study.

Participation in the research was voluntary, with minimal risk to the participants. The prospective participants responded via email with the words "I consent" to indicate their willingness to participate voluntarily in the study. Through a lack of response, prospective participants indicate their refusal to participate in the study. I provided the participants with the details of the study and the confidentiality procedures. Researchers must provide participants the procedures conducted in the study and the plans to protect their identity (Hiriscau et al., 2014). The informed consent details included (a) details of the study, (b) the research process, (c) study withdrawal steps (d) potential benefits of the findings, and (e) my contact information. According to Thorpe (2014), researchers should provide participants the opportunity to withdraw for any reason. At any time, the participants had the option to withdraw from the study for any reason. The participants did not incur a penalty for withdrawing. To withdraw from the study, the participants had



the opportunity to inform me via email or phone about their wish to withdraw from the study. I did not include any data collected from a participant withdrawing from the study. The participants did not receive any compensation or incentive for their participation in the study.

To ensure the ethical protection and confidentiality of participants, I assigned a code for each participant (P1, P2, etc...). The assignment of a pseudonym or code allows the research the ability to provide confidentiality and privacy for the participants (Anthony & Stablein, 2016). I will store the data collected securely for five years by keeping all electronic research data password-protected and paper research in a locked filing cabinet. After 5 years, I will delete all electronic files and shred paper documents. The actions to obtain permission to conduct the study followed the process set by the Institutional Review Board and the approval number for this study was 12-14-20-0660652.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

As the researcher in the qualitative study, I was be the primary data collection instrument. The four sources qualitative researchers use to support data collection efforts are structured interview, semistructured interview, questionnaire, and organizational documents (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I collected data by using virtual face to face semistructured interviews using an interview protocol (see Appendix) after consent and the confirmation of an interview location. According to Cline (2011), in qualitative research, semi-structured interviews are a typical data collection method and can be held face to face. I used one hour for each interview, at a location convenient to each



participant, and used prearranged questions for the semistructured interviews. A preferred and convenient interview location improves participant involvement during the interview (Mealer & Jones, 2014). With participant consent, I recorded each interview session using a digital audio recorder.

Along with introducing the study, the interview protocol outlined the interview process and the interview questions. The interview questions addressed the problem statement. As the researcher, my responsibility was to follow the interview protocol to avoid bias and increase credibility. According to Yin (2017), an interview protocol is an essential tool to improve the credibility of the study. Semistructured interviews allow a researcher the flexibility to ask open-ended questions for more in-depth data (Kallio et al., 2016).

During the interview, I supported the audio recordings by writing notes in a field journal. I recorded personal thoughts in the note pad to prevent any researcher bias, after the completion of each interview. I organized data by recording the participant's name, organization, time, date, and location, and by assigning a code. I used digital audio recordings to verify the participants' responses and store the audio recordings in a locked cabinet to protect their confidentiality. Qualitative researchers minimize errors in data transcription and interpretation by transcribing them immediately (Yin, 2017).

To further enhance the reliability and provide an opportunity for validation, I used member checking. Member checking increases (a) accuracy, (b) minimize erroneous data, and (c) strengthen the reliability and validity of the study by sharing interpretations of the findings with the participants to check for accuracy and alignment with their



experiences (Birt et al., 2016; Harvey, 2015). Member checking allows researchers to validate the themes and understanding captured during the interview (Morse, 2015). After the semi-structured interviews and follow-ups, I supplied each participant with a summary of their interview for review to ensure the accuracy of the data captured.

### **Data Collection Technique**

The primary data collection technique was virtual face to face semistructured interviews in this multiple case study. I also collected secondary data through review of company documents and literature review. The use of semistructured interviews allows qualitative researchers with the ability to gain in-depth knowledge related to the research question (Szolnoki & Hoffmann, 2013). There are several benefits to using semistructured interviews, such as collecting in-depth data by allowing participants to express their views with face to face interviews with constant interaction with the interviewer (Udawatta et al., 2018). A common disadvantage of semistructured interviews includes the misrepresentation of information by participants (Udawatta et al., 2018).

When conducting face-to-face interviews, I had the opportunity to ask participants to provide additional clarity on their responses. The disadvantage of face to face semistructured interviews is the risk of the researcher influencing the responses of the participants (Hawkins, 2017). Before the interview, I sent the interview questions and informed consent form via email in addition to scheduling a date and time for their interview. According to Nusbaum et al. (2017), providing interview questions and informed consent provides individuals with more time to review and ask questions. The



participants chose a location that was convenient for them. Researchers should allow participants to choose the location of an interview to provide an increased level of comfort for the interview participants (Jenner & Myers, 2019). I scheduled the interview location and recorded the interview using the voice recording feature on my phone. I used the interview protocol (Appendix) as a guide to conduct semistructured interviews.

Before conducting the interview, I reviewed the research topic and purpose for the interview, reviewed the informed consent form, and addressed how I planned to maintain confidentiality. Also, I informed the participant about the option to withdraw from the interview and encouraged the participant to answer questions to the best of their ability. Interview details included the participant's associated code, date of interview, location, the start time of the interview, the end time of the interview, and general observations. I worked to avoid researcher bias by writing notes during interviews and maintaining a field journal. Using a field journal increased the trustworthiness and confirmability of the study. According to Balchin et al. (2020), field journal notes increases transparency and audit trail, which help to avoid researcher bias. After the interview, participants validated the interview response analysis through member checking. The participants were provided with the summary analysis and interpretations of their interviews to allow for comments and validation. Member checking ensures the accuracy of the interview response interpretation (Harvey, 2015). Member checking also increased the credibility and rigor of the study.



#### **Data Organization Technique**

To track the data, I used interview journal notes, alphanumeric coding, and audio recordings for a secure electronic and hard copy filing system. I organized the data gathered in the research by labeling, categorizing, and storing it in a secure location. Data organizational techniques allow the researcher to classify and organize data sets to make them more useful (Woods et al., 2015). A password-protected flash drive stored the digital recordings and a Word document for transcribing audio interviews. After transcribing journal notes I destroyed the notes in a shredder, after downloading the audio recordings. I deleted the files from the phone's voice recorder. According to Muasya and Gatumu (2013), a researcher is responsible for safeguarding the confidentiality of the participants. I created folders using unique filenames on the password-protected flash drive and used the Zotero web-based virtual library to keep track of references. The privacy of each participant was necessary for this study; therefore, I labeled each participant with a unique identifier to ensure confidentiality. I used P1 through P4 as the coding system when referring to participants in the study. I will keep interview transcripts, other documentation on a password-protected flash drive, password protected Zotero library, and the external hard drive for five years.

#### **Data Analysis**

During data analysis I used methodological triangulation to analyze the research question and interpret meaning from the collected information to develop themes. According to Turner et al. (2013) qualitative researchers should develop codes and identify themes during data analysis. The four types of triangulation methods include (a)



data triangulation, (b) investigator triangulation, (c) theoretical triangulation, and (d) methodological triangulation (Joslin & Müller, 2016). Researchers use Methodological triangulation to obtain more insightful data, which enhances validity (Marwa et al., 2019). The data triangulation method was not fit for this study because time or space was not a factor in the collection of the data. I was the only researcher for the study, and therefore the investigator triangulation did not align. I did not be analyze more than one theory to interpret the data; therefore, theory triangulation was not a theory used for the study. The data sources used for analysis was existing literature, audio recordings, and field journal notes. The methodological triangulation method involves gathering comprehensive data of a phenomenon by using multiple sources of evidence to increase validity (Wilson, 2014). Methodological triangulation aligned with my study because I gathered comprehensive data of a phenomenon by using multiple sources of evidence to increase validity.

I used NVivo to load transcriptions, code data, identify themes, and organize essential functions of the raw data. I did not choose ATLASTI because the query tool cannot integrate search inquiries for coding data. The cost of using MAXQDA was high, and the tool did not provide the needed functionality, such as multiple user access. To analyze the information related to the strategies used by project managers, I used the fivestep process identified by Yin (2017), which includes (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding.



# Compiling

According to Pietkiewicz and Smith (2014), compiling involves organizing the data into themes to create a database. I searched for themes, patterns, and concepts from the interviews and notes taken. According to Yin (2017), an interview protocol helps develop a pattern in observed data gathered from the face to face interviews used in the study. NVivo was used to compile and organize the collected data in Microsoft Word and Excel software applications. The NVivo application created themes along with the capability for file naming, reflective journaling, indexing, and research logs are also data organization techniques (Peterson & Bonell, 2018). After compiling the data, I began to disassemble the data.

## Disassembling

According to Spector-Mersel (2010), disassembling included breaking down materials into pieces, parts, elements, or units. I disassembled the data to identify concepts, themes, phrases, and terms, and then separate the data into the categories identified in the literature review. The coding process identifies themes and then groups the data (St. Pierre & Jackson, 2014). I analyzed the data collected through audio recordings, existing literature, and journal notes to identify any themes. Once I identified the codes, I reassembled the data into emerging themes.

## Reassembling

After disassembling the data, I used NVivo to reassemble the data into emerging themes. The NVivo software application is an appropriate software program for data organization, management, and analysis (Phillips & Lu, 2018). The auto-coding and



nodes functions in the NVivo software provided me the ability to organize and identify emerging themes for this study. I used the NVivo software to identify groupings and themes. I identified the emerging patterns and themes during this phase.

## Interpreting

After Reassembling, I interpreted the meaning of the data as they relate to the research question. According to Braun et al. (2019), qualitative researchers interpret data to enhance their knowledge of the research question. The more detailed the researcher can be about the steps to gather and interpret the data, the more the reader will be able to appreciate and evaluate our research (Willig & Rogers, 2017). After completing data interpretation, I concludef the data analysis portion of the study.

## Concluding

After interpretation, the final step of data analysis was to develop the conclusions. I used member checking to gain the participant's perspectives on the interpretation of the data, to enhance the reliability and validity of the findings. According to Nowell et al. (2017), allowing the participants to add their perspectives to the data interpretation increases the accuracy and credibility of the findings. I avoided researcher bias by ensuring that I did not include personal thoughts or assumptions that could potentially influence results. The NVivo tool helped identify themes in the data to develop groupings for data analysis. I focused the analysis and finding based on the grouping and themes and connect the themes identified from the interviews with the literature review, new studies published, and the conceptual framework.



I connected the themes identified with the literature to provide credibility for the findings in answering the research question and include the participant's comments to increase the integrity and trustworthiness of the study. Harvey (2015) contended that qualitative research, including participant quotes in the analysis, improves the trustworthiness and integrity of the study. Connecting the themes with the literature provided the perspective needed to better understand the strategies project managers use to reduce IT project failure.

Once I identified the themes from the data gathered from the interviews, I compared it the themes identified in the literature review and the conceptual framework. For this study, I used the MBO theory as the conceptual framework. By correlating the emergent themes with prior literature and the conceptual framework, I was able to answer the overarching research question. According to Yin (2017) associating themes identified during data analysis with theories and prior literature findings, will help qualitative researchers answer their research questions. Through this process, I gained a better understanding of the study, which was to identify strategies project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry.

### **Reliability and Validity**

In qualitative research, reliability and validity are important parts of research and are used to ensure the quality of the findings (Noble & Smith, 2015). When a study is reliable other researchers able to replicate the processes in the study, and the outcomes are similar (Noble & Smith, 2015). Validity confirms the appropriateness of the tools used in the study and is also used to confirm the findings accurately represent the



phenomenon (Nowell et al., 2017). Without reliable and valid data, the accuracy, credibility, dependability, and confirmability of the research findings are questionable, and the research is unlikely to be recognized by other scholars.

## Dependability

Dependability ensures that the research findings are consistent regarding a phenomenon (Harvey, 2015). I used member checking, the interview protocols, and document data interpretations in order to ensure consistency and reliability with the goal of increasing the dependability of the research. According to Morse (2015), rigor in research requires the use of an audit or decision trail to document decisions and interpretations made by the researcher. The member checking process reduces the risk for misunderstandings of the interview responses and increases the reliability of the study findings (Van Griensven et al., 2014). I also used a standard interview process to support the reliability of the research study process. Member checking and a standard interview protocol allowed the interview participants the ability to validate the dependability of the findings.

## Credibility

When several pieces of information point to the same assertion or proposition, a study is deemed credible (Cope, 2014). Credibility occurs when the results of the study are reliable, believable, and accurately represent the participants' responses (Noble & Smith, 2015). To mitigate credibility concerns, I did not have a relationship with the interview participants, probing, and clarification questions were used, along with member checking. Researchers use interviews and member checking to provide a summary of



participant responses and the interpretations of their responses for clarity and a review of the responses and emergent themes (Harvey, 2015). Participants reviewed their interview responses, provide clarification, and validate emergent themes. According to Morse (2015), the results of the study must be believable from the participant's perspective to ensure credibility.

# Transferability

The applicability of the findings to other occurrences and circumstances confirm the transferability of the results related to the phenomenon (Anney, 2014). By using a standard process for the study and providing a detailed description of the research context, researchers will be able to replicate the study. Assumptions of this study will be applicable and transferable to the findings of similar studies. A detailed account of the population and the study boundaries enable the researcher to transfer their findings to similar settings (Eckhardt & DeVon, 2017). I will present all planning and analysis steps along with associated documents. According to Burchett et al. (2013), researchers, provide detailed explanations of every research process from data collection, the context of the study, and finalization of the report to aide in transferability to replicate the results in the study.

### Confirmability

Confirmability is the degree to which other researchers substantiate or verify the findings of a study (Anney, 2014). Garside (2014) also noted that confirmability was the extent to which others substantiate the results of the study. I remained objective and avoided researcher bias by ensuring the research only reflects participants' responses and



providing an audit trail of the decisions made. I used a field journal to document my decision making during the research process. Confirmability is the element that provides a level of confidence that the findings are based on the participants' narratives and words rather than personal biases (Connelly, 2016). Utilizing the interview data, conducting member checks, and following an interview protocol will support confirmability to reflect the participant's perspectives.

## **Data Saturation**

To ensure data saturation, I used a purposeful sample of four participants to ensure an in-depth discussion of strategies to reduce IT project failure. The interview process continue until no new information was able to be obtained from the interviews. When there is no additional information or emerging ideas gained from the interview, the researcher has achieved data saturation (Faulkner & Trotter, 2017). Every participant's situation and interview details was different; therefore, I did not set a specific limit on the number of interviews. Researchers focus on obtaining saturation to ensure the collected information represents all aspects of a phenomenon (Fusch & Ness, 2015). By using an initial sample of four participants, data saturation occurred within the sample.

### **Transition and Summary**

In Section 2, I provided a plan of action to complete the study by restating the purpose. Also, Section 2 included an overview of the role of the researcher, participants, methods, design, population sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity. In Section 3, I presented the findings of the study. I also included



recommendations for action, recommendations for future research, and the implications for social change to improve the field of project management: research findings, recommendations for future research, summary, and conclusion to complete the section.



Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

## Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry in the Birmingham, AL, area. IT projects' results impact an organization's information system(s) and are typically used to achieve an organization's business strategic goals and objectives through technical innovation (Standing et al., 2016). IT project failure presents organizational leaders with organizational and economic challenges (Engelbrecht et al., 2017), but Winter et al. (2019) found that only 29% of IT project results deliver what was required and are in line with expectations. The three themes emerging from the analysis included (a) scope management, (b) effective communication, and (c) managing priorities. The themes provided adequate insight into the strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures.

### **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching research question for this study was:

RQ: What strategies do project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry?

The participants interviewed in the study were four certified project managers. Data saturation was achieved from the participants after the eighth interview session. I triangulated the data from the semistructured interviews with company documents, existing literature, and journal notes. The company documents consisted of project plans, communications plans, scope management plans, and lessons learned documents from



previous and ongoing projects. I was also able to identify multiple strategies to avoid project failure used by experienced and certified IT project managers in the insurance industry. The interview participants were identified after a canvas of the local Project Management Institute chapter meetings. Once the audio recorded interviews were complete, I transcribed and inputted them into NVivo for analysis and identification of themes. The three themes emerging from the analysis included (a) scope management, (b) effective communication, and (c) managing priorities. While discussing several strategies, the participants identified scope management as the predominant theme. The evaluation of project planning techniques connected the second theme of effective communication and the third theme of resource management. The identified themes and strategies linked to the conceptual framework and the literature reviewed in this study.

## **Theme 1: Scope Management**

The theme of managing scope confirmed the findings from the existing knowledge that scope management is key to ensuring project success. Scope management is the process project managers use to identify project outcomes and document changes to the scope (Derenskaya, 2018). According to Ramage (2018), engineering technology projects undertaken without scope management are 90% more likely to fail than projects undertaken with scope management strategies. The participants indicated that they used scope management techniques when managing their IT projects. According to Khan (2006), managing the scope of a project is the most important function of a project manager. Most of the participants emphasized the importance of defining scope early in the process and documenting scope changes to ensure stakeholder confirmation when



66

managing a project. Managing scopes involves identifying the project outcomes required for a project to ensure success (Gasik, 2018). P1 indicated that "defining the scope and having a way to manage is key to avoiding project failure, especially in an environment that experiences constant change with strong stakeholders." The findings from Abdilahi et al. (2020) confirmed that project scope control has a direct impact on the implementation of projects.

The first strategy for managing scope was the importance of defining and managing project objectives. All the participants identified that scope management strategies reduce the chances of IT project failure. The first theme identified in the study was defining clear goals and objectives prior to starting the project. Each participant in the study identified that strategies to avoid unclear objectives and lack of direction cause project failures. The primary strategy identified was defining the key objectives of the project. P2 commented that if the scope is ambiguous or not agreed on by stakeholders, projects' outcomes are rarely accepted as a success.

### Table 9

Strategy	Ν	%
Defining clear objectives	4	100%
Manage scope creep	3	75%



# **Defining Clear Objectives**

Project objectives identify the desired project deliverables. P1 and P2 each said they use a charter early in their projects to define the scope and deliverable of the project. According to Mark and Lurie (2018), a project charter is an agreement between the project manager and project sponsor that defines the project's scope, objectives, and roles and responsibilities. P4 stated that they did not use a formal project chart but instead used the scope statement as the process to define objectives. Regardless of the tool used to capture the objectives, the participants all agreed that the strategy of meeting with the project sponsor to identify expectations, reduce assumptions, and agree to the project outcomes was critical to the project's success. The participants provided examples of common questions asked during the conversation with the sponsor.

- What is the purpose of this project?
- What is the scope of this project?
- What is the budget?
- What is the timeline?

According to Kinnunen (2016), when the project manager and sponsor work together, it allows for more informed decision making when defining the project scope and objectives. P3 mentioned that when the project's purpose and success criteria are identified early in the project, it reduces assumptions that lead to errors and, ultimately, project failure. When defining objectives, the participants identified the need to ensure that objectives are tangible as a strategy for success. According to Agwaye (2021) having a clear idea of the objective and desired outcomes of a system, is what will ensure a



successful implementation for CRM projects. P2, P3, and P4 each referenced the need to work with the project sponsor to ensure goals are measurable and timebound.

The use of quantifiable goals aligns with the conceptual framework and the use of SMART goals ensuring objectives are specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and timebound. P1 and P2 indicated that when project requirements and deliverables are clear and agreed upon using SMART criteria, project success is "more likely to be achieved." Managing scope by defining clear objectives aligns with the MBO theory by Drucker, which addresses improving the performance of an organization by defining clear objectives (as cited in Sull & Sull, 2018).

# Scope Creep

Seventy-five percent of the participants noted that managing the project against scope creep was crucial to preventing project failure. Literature confirmed that software engineering and software project managers viewed scope creep as one of the most common causes for project failure (Komal et al., 2020). Scope creep occurs when the project scope identified in the charter changes uncontrollably beyond the original expectations. According to Farok and Garcia (2016), scope creep is a leading cause of global project failure. Changes to IT projects are expected in a fast-paced environment; therefore, scope creep is common and can be expected, but uncontrolled changes can negatively impact the project outcomes and determination of project success (Larson & Larson, 2009). The scope management plan was the primary strategy used by the participants to avoid scope creep.



P1 and P2 noted that they created a scope management plan as a process that was part of the overall project plan early in the project with stakeholders that documented and controlled scope changes. A review of each participant's project management documentation supported scope management as a key document that was used in their project plans. The scope management plan's primary components include a scope statement, deliverables, stakeholder acceptance, and scope control. P3 noted that having a scope management plan allows flexibility in their project because it addresses the impact scope changes have on the triple constraint and resources and requires approval from stakeholders. A review of the company documents provided by the participants indicated that they consistently used a scope management plan to manage project changes. P1, P2, and P4 noted that many of their projects experienced scope creep, but when project managers and stakeholders accept the change, project failure is reduced.

### **Theme 2: Effective Communication**

The second theme was the importance of effective communication throughout the project. The participants identified that when project managers executed effective communication strategies, project failure was reduced. The MBO theory aligns with the theme of effective communication because the theory focuses on the facilitation of communication between managers and subordinates regarding goals, action plans and decision making (Islam & Rahman, 2020). The strategy for effective communication strategy included building a communication plan. According to Aleksejevec (2020) effective communication, which includes the development of a communication plan, is the most important factor to project success.



# **Building a Communication Plan**

The theme of effective communication and the communication plans strategy identified by the participants confirmed the finding from existing literature on project success. Greenberger (2016) noted that effective communication strategies prevent project delays and cost overruns, which result in project failure. During interviews, each participant mentioned that they had an agreed-upon strategy that they used to communicate with the project stakeholders. When relationship conflict is present, there is often a lack of communication willingness among project teams. Lack of communication results in the deterioration of the relationship between project teams, which is not conducive to the realization of project success. According to Awomolo (2017), a third of the time, lack of communication is the primary contributor to project failure. P1, P2, and P3 mentioned that poor communication contributed to a lack of coordination, conflict, and incorrect expectations, all of which have a negative impact on project success.

Each participant noted that they established a standard and agreed-upon communication process (plan) early in their project for all stakeholders. According to Mikhieieva and Waidmann (2017), a communication plan describes the method, timing, and the level of detail of the project team, which will improve communication with the stakeholders. In a project, stakeholders need to be aware of project objectives, risks, constraints, or changes to the project. My review of the company documents revealed that each participant created communication plans for their projects; however, when their peers conducted projects without an established communication plan, the project suffered, encountered numerous issues, or failed completely. According to P1, when



there is not a standard method of communication, information is not shared correctly with stakeholders. A communication plan ensures the stakeholders are provided with up-to-date information and allows for better decision making. Each participant remarked on the need to keep stakeholders informed on project status, risks, and changes throughout the progress of the project. To execute their communication strategies, the participants used multiple methods to communicate with their stakeholders such as (a) status meetings (in-person or video/telephony), (b) status reports, (c) collaboration apps, (d) emails, and (e) discussion boards.

### **Theme 3: Managing Competing Priorities**

The third theme focused on the ability to manage competing priorities. Competing priorities present a problem for project managers due to a lack of resources. Three of the four participants referenced that competing organizational priorities requiring the same resources hindered their ability to effectively manage and coordinate project resources. The organizational documents provided by the participants identified that a lack of resource availability due to competing projects were common reasons for project delays. The inability to manage resources due to concurrent project was a common theme as to why projects fail for all participants and was evident in the organizational documents provided. Drucker's MBO theory aligns with the need for prioritization, according to Drucker (2021) leaders should do first things first and second things not at all. Drucker's MBO theory's five step process forces leaders to identify and prioritize objectives for resources to coordinate the work needed (Sull & Sull, 2018). The participants each identified a few common strategies to help reduce the chance of project failure due to a



lack of prioritization of objectives that lead to poor resource management. The strategies include ranking priorities, risk management planning, and the establishment of roles and responsibilities.

# Table 10

Strategies to Manage Competing Priorities

Strategy	N	%
Rank priorities	3	75%
Risk management planning	4	100%
Roles and responsibility	2	50%

# **Rank Priorities**

The insurance industry is fast-paced, and organizations typically have multiple IT efforts that are needed to contribute to their success. At times it becomes difficult to manage the priorities. As a result, project managers have to compete for the same resources. According to Almeida et al. (2020) if competing priorities in terms of manpower and finances are not identified at the beginning of the project delays, cost overruns, and reduced benefits can occur. P3 managed their project resource usage by meeting with project business owners early in the planning phase to identify projects that may have competing resource needs and request that competing projects are ranked to help determine proper resource allocation. P2 noted a similar method of identifying where human capital resources overlap with other efforts. P2 stated that when resources were needed during a similar time, a meeting with key stakeholders would be scheduled



to determine which project the resources would be allocated to support. According to Holgeid et al. (2018), competing priorities is a top 5 reason for failed digital IT efforts. P4 noted that during the development of the project, charter dependencies and constraints are identified and reviewed. Also, before the Charter is signed, the organizational priority of the project is confirmed. According to Rojas and Figueroa (2018), project prioritization maximizes project and organizational success through the effective management and allocation of resources to projects that are in alignment with the organization's strategic objectives. However, each participant stated that regardless of the priorities, the project manager must be flexible because priorities can change, and it may require a reprioritization of projects.

### **Risk Management Planning**

Project managers frequently encounter issues that impact their projects, and their ability to prepare and manage the situation can determine the success of a project. According to Obondi (2020) study results indicated that all project risk management and practices positively related to project success. A common project issue identified by the participants is the lack of resource availability. The lack of resources can be a risk and barrier to the successful implementation of a project (Dandage et al., 2018). Each of the participants in the study identified the implementation of risk management strategies as a key component to ensure project success. Risk management strategies include (a) roles and responsibilities, (b) project schedule, and (c) impact analysis. Zaveckaite and Ulbinaite (2018), confirmed the participant's responses that the ability to manage risk properly is crucial to the success of a project.



### **Roles and Responsibilities**

P2 and P3 stated that they primarily use a roles and responsibilities matrix to manage the risk of losing key resources on the project. According to Bhika and Pretorius (2017), the lack of resources is one of the highest challenges that influence project failure; however, clearly defined roles and responsibilities is a key factor that influences project success. According to Nyameke et al. (2020) managing roles and responsibility to develop a collaborative team is key to a successful multiproject. P2 stated that they use a role and responsibility document to identify the resources (person) responsible for carrying out tasks in the project. P2 also stated that creating the roles and responsibility document early in the project "helped secure resources or identified conflicts of interests," which prompted conversations early to manage the risk by either accepting or mitigating the risk of lack of resources and adjusting their project plan accordingly. P3 identified the use of a RACI chart to categorize stakeholders by responsibility on the project and level of involvement. RACI is an acronym that stands for responsible, accountable, consulted, and informed. P3 stated that "the RACI chart identified resources gaps or where resources were overworked." The RACI chart identifying work to be done by project resources and identifies clear accountability with roles and expectations (Yu, 2020). P2 used the RACI chart to visualize their roles and responsibility and identify accountability to help identify a lack of coverage for a task.

### **Applications to Professional Practice**

The purpose of this study was to explore the strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures. Organizational leaders invest in their IT products to support



their organizational strategies, and they cannot afford the potential loss of a failed project or a compromise that negatively influences competitive advantage (Chi & Sun, 2015). The findings of this study may have a positive impact on the practices and strategies used to avoid IT project failure. By using the results and recommendations from this study, project managers and IT leaders may better understand why IT projects fail and implement strategies to improve the success rate of future IT projects. The results are relevant to professional practice because the findings of this study contained applied strategies such as managing scope, effective communication, and managing priorities from project managers who successfully implemented IT projects. The results offer insights into practices and strategies used to avoid IT project failures. According to Aranyossy et al. (2018) large and complex projects reach a failure rate of 40%. The results of the study can help project managers lead their IT projects by improving best practices and strategies. PMO's and individual project managers can use the findings from this study by using the strategies to improve their IT project success rate and increase their organization's performance and competitive advantage.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The contributions to social change may include the improvement of project performance and reduce financial risks. Business leaders invest in IT projects to drive innovation that will provide a competitive advantage for business success. Business leaders strive to achieve their organizational goals, and a reduction in the number of failed IT projects can improve organizational performance and the economy. Organizational success allows for more financial flexibility within an organization,



ultimately creating the option for a reduction in product cost and services. When organizations achieve success through successful implementation of IT projects, success can have a positive impact on society by creating jobs and economic development. Successful IT project implementation allows organizational leaders to achieve their goals and focus on benefits such as employee development, customer satisfaction, and an increase in market share (Patah & de Carvalho, 2017). Customers may benefit from successful IT innovation efforts that support improved customer experience that encourage the usage of products and services, which will stimulate the economy. When businesses are successful in achieving their goal, they are more willing to become involved in civic engagement and support community programs and charitable giving (Scheuchner, 2017).

## **Recommendations for Action**

The findings of this study may help project managers manage the challenges associated with IT projects. In this study, I explored explore strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures.

Based on the research results, I recommend current and future IT leaders develop:

- a communication plan to determine how the information will be distributed;
- a change control process for the project that includes a process for scope, resources, cost, and schedule changes;
- an effective communication network throughout the organization and within the project team;
- a project plan which identifies the requirements of the stakeholders;



- a clear project schedule;
- a project prioritization process or matrix;
- implementation of daily status meetings; and
- issue and risk management and mitigation strategies.

The results of this study benefit project managers, PMO managers, and organizational leaders because they can use the strategies the participants provided from their experiences successfully implementing IT projects. The strategies and the results of this study can be circulated through journal articles and professional literature. I will offer to present the study findings at the local PMI Birmingham Chapter.

# **Recommendations for Further Research**

The purpose of this study was to explore the strategies that project managers use to reduce IT project failures. For this study, I identified two limitations. The first limitation was the small sample size of participants that may not fully represent the views of other project managers. The target population consisted of four IT project managers in Birmingham, AL. They have successfully used strategies to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry located in Birmingham, Alabama. To overcome this limitation, future researchers could increase the sample size, and the target population can be expanded to a broader geographical region and other insurance firms. The second limitation was the researcher's professional experience with IT projects and the potential researcher bias. To overcome the second limitation, member checking should be used to review interview responses, along with a third-party review of the analysis and findings.



Based on the limitations and other considerations, I recommend that future research consider:

- expanding research to other multiple insurance companies,
- expanding research outside of the insurance industry to get a broader range of successful project management strategies,
- expanding the geographical region of the population to include other regions of the country or expanding into other countries,
- using other research methodologies and designs in order to reduce the subjectivity of the responses, and
- narrowing the scope of the study by taking a more in-depth review of a specific strategy.

# Reflections

The DBA Doctoral study process posed a challenging yet fulfilling learning experience. Before I began the program, I underestimated the investment of time the research would require completing the doctoral study. I did not have any preconceived ideas or thoughts about the results of this study. My professional experience in project management posed the risk of researcher bias. However, I acknowledged the potential bias early and did not allow these biases to impact the findings. I followed the established protocol when conducting the participant interviews. I used member checking to review and confirm interview interpretations, in addition to the data analysis tool NVivo that generated the themes used in the study results. The interview participants were very knowledgeable about project management principles and strategies. I was able to learn



from many of the participant's experiences and identify strategies that can be used for all IT projects regardless of the industry. I am also more knowledgeable of the challenges business leaders face when projects are not successful. I identified three major themes associated with the effective management of IT projects. I believe the knowledge discovered during the study provides valuable information to IT project managers, PMO leaders, and business leaders. The participants requested a copy of the final study.

### Conclusion

In this qualitative multiple case study, I explored the strategies that project managers used to reduce IT project failures. I collected data from four IT project managers in Birmingham, AL. I used methodological triangulation to analyze the data until I reached data saturation. Three major themes emerged from the data analysis with several strategies that IT project managers could use to improve IT implementation effectiveness. The three major themes included (a) scope management, (b) effective communication, and (c) competing priorities. The strategies recognized by the participants included (a) defining clear objectives, (b) managing scope creep, (c) building a communication plan, (d) ranking priorities, (e) risk management planning, and (f) defining roles and responsibilities. I analyzed each theme in relation to existing literature and used Drucker's MBO theory to address the complexity of managing IT projects. The main contribution to business practice is the identification of strategies that project managers to avoid project failure.



## References

- Abdilahi, S. M., Fakunle, F. F., & Fashina, A. A. (2020). Exploring the extent to which project scope management processes influence the implementation of telecommunication projects. *PM World Journal*, 9(5), 1–17.
   <u>https://pmworldjournal.com/article/exploring-the-extent-towhich-project-scope-management-processes</u>
- Agwaye, J. E. (2021). Challenges of developing and managing effective CRM (customer relationship management) in manufacturing-review and analysis [Seminar paper, University of Wisconsin-Platteville].

https://minds.wisconsin.edu/bitstream/handle/1793/80983/Agwaye,%20Joseph.pd f?sequence=1

- Ajmal, M., Khan, M., & Al-Yafei, H. (2019). Exploring factors behind project scope creep – stakeholders' perspective. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 13(3), 483-504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijmpb-10-2018-0228</u>
- Alami, A. (2016). Why do information technology projects fail? *Procedia Computer Science*, *100*, 62–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2016.09.124</u>
- Albert, M., Balve, P., & Spang, K. (2017). Evaluation of project success: A structured literature review. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 10(4), 796–821. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-01-2017-0004

Aleksejevec, V. (2020). *Determining the critical factors of the project success* [Doctoral dissertation, Mykolo Romerio universitetas].

https://vb.mruni.eu/object/elaba:49843852/49843852.pdf



- Alias, Z., Zawawi, E. M. A., Yusof, K., & Aris, N. M. (2014). Determining critical success factors of project management practice: A conceptual framework. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *153*, 61-69.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.10.041</u>
- Aljohani, M. D., & Qureshi, M. R. J. (2016). Management of changes in software requirements during development phases. *International Journal of Education and Management Engineering*, 6(6), 12-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.5815/ijeme.2016.06.02</u>
- Alkhuraiji, A., Liu, S., Oderanti, F. O., & Megicks, P. (2016). New structured knowledge network for strategic decision-making in IT innovative and implementable projects. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(5), 1534–1538.
   <a href="http://hdl.handle.net/10026.1/5148">http://hdl.handle.net/10026.1/5148</a>
- Almeida, O., Figueiredo, P. S., Estevão-Beal, V., & Uchoa-Passos, F. (2020). Critical success factors of product development projects in the automotive industry. *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation*, 15(2), 56-70. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0718-2724202000200056</u>
- Amerson, R. (2011). Making a case for the case study method. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 50(8), 427-428. <u>https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20110719-01</u>
- Anantatmula, V. S. (2015). Strategies for enhancing project performance. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, *31*(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-</u> 5479.0000369
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational*



Research and Policy Studies, 5(2), 272-281.

http://196.44.162.10:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/256/Ensuring%20t he%20Quality%20of%20the%20Findings%20of%20Qualitative%20Research%2 0NEW.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

- Anthony, D. L., & Stablein, T. (2016). Privacy in practice: Professional discourse about information control in health care. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 30(2), 207–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-12-2014-0220</u>
- Aranyossy, M., Blaskovics, B., & Horváth, Á. A. (2018). How universal are IT project success and failure factors? Evidence from Hungary. *Information Systems Management*, 35(1), 15-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10580530.2017.1416943</u>
- Artto, K., Ahola, T., & Vartiainen, V. (2016). From the front end of projects to the back end of operations: Managing projects for value creation throughout the system lifecycle. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(2), 258-270.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.05.003

Avgousti, K. (2013). Research philosophy, methodology, quantitative and qualitative methods. *Cyprus Journal of Sciences*, *11*(1), 33-43.

http://www.ac.ac.cy/en/research/the-cyprus-journal-of-sciences

 Awomolo, O. (2017). Exploring communication in multidisciplinary building design teams [Doctoral dissertation, Carnegie Mellon University].
 <a href="https://kilthub.cmu.edu/articles/thesis/Exploring\_Communication\_in\_Multidiscipl">https://kilthub.cmu.edu/articles/thesis/Exploring\_Communication\_in\_Multidiscipl</a>

inary\_Building\_Design\_Teams/6716588



Badiru, A. B., Ibidapo-Obe, O., & Ayeni, B. J. (2018). Manufacturing and enterprise: An integrated systems approach. CRC Press.

https://doi.org/10.1201/9780429055928

Balchin, R., Hersh, D., Grantis, J., & Godfrey, M. (2020). "Ode to confidence": Poetry groups for dysarthria in multiple sclerosis. *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 22(3), 347-358.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17549507.2020.1739333

- Berssaneti, F., & Carvalho, M. (2015). Identification of variables that impact project success in Brazilian companies. *International Journal of Project Management*, 33(3), 638–649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.07.002</u>
- Besner, C., & Hobbs, B. (2012). An empirical identification of project management toolsets and a comparison among project types. *Project Management Journal*, 43(5), 24–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pmj.21292</u>
- Bhika, B. D., & Pretorius, J. H. C. (2017). Challenges facing projects due to a lack of resources [Doctoral dissertation, University of Johannesburg]. http://ieomsociety.org/pilsen2019/papers/133.pdf
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870</u>

Blackburn, G. (2017). A university's strategic adoption process of an PBL-aligned eLearning environment: An exploratory case study. *Educational Technology* 



Research and Development, 65(1), 147–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-016-9472-3

Blake, J. (2004). Project managing the SDLC: Using milestones to align project management and system development lifecycles and report project success. Paper presented at PMI® Global Congress 2004—North America, Anaheim, CA. Newtown Square, PA: Project Management Institute.

https://www.pmi.org/learning/library/project-managing-sdlc-8232

Blaskovics, B. (2016). The impact of project manager on project success — The case of ICT sector. *Society and Economy*, *38*(2), 261–281.

https://doi.org/10.1556/204.2016.38.2.7

- Braun, V., Clarke, V., Hayfield, N., & Terry, G. (2019). Thematic analysis. Handbook of Research Methods in Health Social Sciences, 843-860. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-5251-4\_103
- Browning, T. R., & Yassine, A. A. (2016). Managing a portfolio of product development projects under resource constraints. *Decision Sciences*, 47(2), 333–372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/deci.12172</u>
- Burchett, H. E. D., Dobrow, M. J., Lavis, J. N., & Mayhew, S. H. (2013). The applicability and transferability of public health research from one setting to another: A survey of maternal health researchers. *Global Health Promotion*,

20(1), 16–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975913476904</u>

Burns, J. M. (1998). Transactional and transforming leadership. Sage Publications.



- Butt, A., Naaranoja, M., & Savolainen, J. (2016). Project change stakeholder communication. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(8), 1579–1595. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.08.010</u>
- Cairney, P., & St. Denny, E. (2015). What is qualitative research (Bloomsbury). *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *18*(1), 117–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2014.957434</u>
- Cappiello, A. (2018). *Technology and the insurance industry: Re-configuring the competitive landscape*. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74712-5\_2</u>
- Caruth, G. (2013). Demystifying mixed methods research design: A review of the literature. *Mevlana International Journal of Education*. 3(2), 112-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.13054/mije.13.35.3.2</u>
- Castellano, J. F., & Roehm, H. A. (2001). The problems with managing by objectives and results. *Quality Progress*, *34*(3), 39-46.
- Chae, H.-C., Koh, C. E., & Park, K. O. (2018). Information technology capability and firm performance: Role of industry. *Information & Management*, 55(5), 525–546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2017.10.001</u>
- Charmaz, K., & Belgrave, L. L. (2019). Thinking about data with grounded theory. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 25(8), 743-753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800418809455</u>
- Check, D. K., Wolf, L. E., Dame, L. A., & Beskow, L. M. (2014). Certificates of confidentiality and informed consent: Perspectives of IRB chairs and institutional legal counsel. *IRB*, 36(1), 1–8. <u>https://www.thehastingscenter.org/publications-</u> <u>resources/ethics-human-research/</u>



- Chi, J., & Sun, L. (2015). IT and competitive advantage: A study from micro perspective. *Modern Economy*, 6(3), 404. https://doi.org/10.4236/me.2015.63038
- Chipulu, M., Stamati, T., Shou, Y., Marshall, A., Gardiner, P., Ojiako, U., & Maguire, S. (2014). Exploring the impact of cultural values on project performance: The effects of cultural values, age and gender on the perceived importance of project success/failure factors. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 34(3), 364–389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-04-2012-0156</u>
- Chowdhury, M. F. (2015). Coding, sorting and sifting of qualitative data analysis: Debates and discussion. *Quality & Quantity*, 49(3), 1135-1143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-014-0039-2</u>
- Church, K. S., Schmidt, P. J., & Smedley, G. (2016). Casey's collections: A strategic decision-making case using the systems development lifecycle—planning and analysis phases. *Journal of Emerging Technologies in Accounting*, *13*(2), 231–245. https://doi.org/10.2308/jeta-51472
- Cline, R. R. (2011). Data collection methods. *Introduction to the Pharmacy Business* Administration Series.

http://repository.fue.edu.eg/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/1607/5225.pdf?se quence=1

Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435-437.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/321684950\_Trustworthiness\_in\_Qualita

tive\_Research



- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41(1), 89–91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Corbacioglu, S. (2016). Influence of taylorism on deming's quality management. *Inquiry-Sarajevo Journal of Social Science*, 2(2), 77-87. <u>https://doi.org/10.21533/isjss.v2i2.85</u>
- Cullen, K., & Parker, D. W. (2015). Improving performance in project-based management: Synthesizing strategic theories. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 64(5), 608–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-02-2014-0031</u>
- Dai, C. X., & Wells, W. G. (2004). An exploration of project management office features and their relationship to project performance. *International Journal of Project Management*, 22(7), 523–532.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2004.04.001

- Dandage, R. V., Mantha, S. S., Rane, S. B., & Bhoola, V. (2018). Analysis of interactions among barriers in project risk management. *Journal of Industrial Engineering International*, 14(1), 153-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40092-017-0215-9</u>
- Dansoh, A., Frimpong, S., & Oppong, G. D. (2020). Exploring the dimensions of traditional authority influencing stakeholder management at the pre-construction stage of infrastructure projects. *Construction Management and Economics*, 38(2), 189-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01446193.2019.1589647</u>



- Darling, E. J., & Whitty, S. J. (2016). The project management office: It's just not what it used to be. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 9(2), 282-308. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-08-2015-0083
- Dasgupta, M. (2015). Exploring the relevance of case study research. *Vision*, *19*(2), 147–160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262915575661</u>
- Davidsen, A. S. (2013). Phenomenological approaches in psychology and health sciences. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *10*(3), 318–339.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2011.608466

- Davies, A., & Brady, T. (2016). Explicating the dynamics of project capabilities.
   *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(2), 314–327.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.04.006</u>
- Deeba, F., & Kureshi, N. (2017). Critical success factors in project management-an ethics perspective. *Journal of Strategy and Performance Management*, *5*(3), 104-

113. http://jspm.firstpromethean.com/documents/5-3-104-113.pdf

Deming, W. E. (2018). Out of the crisis. MIT Press.

https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/11457.001.0001

Deming, W. E., Cahill, K. E., & Allan, K. L. (2018). *Out of the Crisis*. MIT Press. <u>https://books.google.com/books?id=PTNwDwAAQBAJ</u>

Derenskaya, Y. (2018). Project scope management process. *Baltic Journal of Economic Studies*, 4(1), 118-125. https://doi.org/10.30525/2256-0742/2018-4-1-118-125

Drucker, P. (1954). The practices of management. Harper & Row.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9780080939063



Drucker, P. (2021). The effective executive. Routledge.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9780080549354

Dumay, J., & Qu, S. Q. (2011). The qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 8(3), 238–264.

https://doi.org/10.1108/11766091111162070

- Durney, C. P., & Donnelly, R. G. (2015). Managing the effects of rapid technological change on complex information technology projects. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 6(4), 641-664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-012-0099-2</u>
- Eckhardt, A. L., & DeVon, H. A. (2017). The mixed framework: A novel approach to evaluating mixed-methods rigor. *Nursing Inquiry*, 24(4).

https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12189

Edwards, K. (2018). Project Management in the Health Insurance Environment: A Case Study [Doctoral dissertation, Northcentral University].

https://search.proquest.com/openview/7ed82b2cb208cac4d7dd57de3daabce8/1?p g-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

- El-Sayegh, S. M., & Al-Haj, R. (2017). A new framework for time-cost trade-off considering float loss impact. *Journal of Financial Management of Property and Construction*, 22(1), 20–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jfmpc-02-2016-0007</u>
- Emam, K. E., & Koru, A. G. (2008). A replicated survey of it software project failures. *IEEE Software; Los Alamitos*, 25(5), 84–90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ms.2008.107</u>



- Engelbrecht, J., Johnston, K. A., & Hooper, V. (2017). The influence of business managers' IT competence on IT project success. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35(6), 994-1005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.04.016
- Farok, G. M. G., & Garcia, J. A. (2016). Scope creep monitors level of satisfaction, cost of business and slippery slope relationships among stakeholders, project manager, sponsor and PMO to execute project completion report. *Journal of Advanced Research in Business Management and Accounting*, 2(2), 15-23.
  <u>https://images.template.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/14113807/project-scope-creep-template.pdf</u>
- Faulkner, S. L., & Trotter, S. P. (2017). Data saturation. In J. Mathes, C. S. Davis, & R.
  F. Potter (eds.), *The international encyclopedia of communication research methods*, 1-2. Wiley. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0060</u>
- Fielding, N. (2010). Mixed methods research in the real world. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 3(2), 127-138.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570902996186

- Florentine, S. (2017). *IT project success rates finally improving*. CIO. <u>https://www.cio.com/article/3174516/it-project-success-rates-finally-improving.html</u>
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data Saturation in Qualitative Research. 11. https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://scholar.goo

gle.com/&httpsredir=1&article=1049&context=sm\_pubs



- Gamil, Y., Rahman, I., & Nagapan, S. (2019). Investigating the effect of poor communication in terms of cost and time overruns in the construction industry. *International Journal of Construction Supply Chain Management*, 9(2), 94–106. https://doi.org/10.14424/ijcscm902019-94-106
- Garside, R. (2014). Should we appraise the quality of qualitative research reports for systematic reviews, and if so, how? *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, 27(1), 67–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13511610.2013.777270</u>
- Gasik, S. (2018). A framework for analysing differences between public-sector and other-sector projects. *Zarządzanie Publiczne*, 3(45), 73-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.15678/zp.2018.45.3.05</u>
- Gelbard, R., & Carmeli, A. (2009). The interactive effect of team dynamics and organizational support on ICT project success. *International Journal of Project Management*, 27(5), 464-470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2008.07.005</u>
- Glaser, B. G. (1999). The future of grounded theory. *Qualitative Health Research*, 9(6), 836–845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/104973299129122199</u>
- Gollner, J. A., & Baumane-Vītoliņa, I. (2016). Measurement of ERP-project success:
   Findings from Germany and Austria. *Engineering Economics*, 27(5), 498–508.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ee.27.5.13208">https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.ee.27.5.13208</a>
- Greenberger, L. S. (2016). Effective Communications for project success. *Remediation Journal*, 26(2), 121-128. https://doi.org/10.1002/rem.21463



Gupta, P., & Mata-Toledo, R. A. (2016). Cybercrime: in disguise crimes. Journal of Information Systems & Operations Management, 10(1).

http://www.rebe.rau.ro/RePEc/rau/jisomg/SU16/JISOM-SU16-A01.pdf

- Hackmann, C., Green, A., Notley, C., Perkins, A., Reed, G. M., Ridler, J., Wilson, J., & Shakespeare, T. (2017). Protocol for a qualitative study exploring perspectives on the International Classification of Diseases (11th revision); Using lived experience to improve mental health Diagnosis in NHS England: INCLUDE study. *BMJ Open*, 7(9), e018399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018399</u>
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2014.914487</u>
- Hassenforder, E., Smajgl, A., & Ward, J. (2015). Towards understanding participatory processes: framework, application and results. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 157(1), 84-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.04.012</u>
- Hastie, S., & Wojewoda, S. (2015). Standish group chaos report-Q & A, with Jennifer Lynch. <u>https://www.infoq.com/articles/standish-chaos-2015</u>
- Hawkins, J. E. (2017). Email interviews: The Decision-Making Process for Utilizing Electronic Data Collection in Qualitative Nursing Research. https://sigma.nursingrepository.org/handle/10755/622629
- Henkel, T. G., Marion, J., & Bourdeau, D. (2019). Project manager leadership behavior: task-oriented versus relationship-oriented. *Journal of Leadership Education*, 18(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.12806/v18/i2/r8</u>



- Herzberg, F. (1959). Two Factor Theory of Motivation. *Motivation theory*, 1-3. <u>https://www.studymode.com/essays/Two-Factor-Theory-Of-Motivation-</u> <u>48390156.html</u>
- Hiriscau, I. E., Stingelin-Giles, N., Stadler, C., Schmeck, K., & Reiter-Theil, S. (2014).
  A right to confidentiality or a duty to disclose? Ethical guidance for conducting prevention research with children and adolescents. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 23(6), 409-416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-014-0526-y</u>
- Holgeid, K., Stray, V., Krogstie, J., & Thompson, M. (2018). Strategizing for IT project success in the digital era. *International Research Workshop on IT Project Management 2018.* 6. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10871/35871</u>
- Hoogesteyn, K., Meijer, E., & Vrij, A. (2020). Examining witness interviewing environments. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling*, 17(3), 238-249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jip.1549</u>
- Hosch, A. (2016). Epistemic skills deficiency in the project management body of knowledge [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].
   <a href="https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3762&context=dissertations">https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3762&context=dissertations</a>
- Irawanto, D. W. (2015). Employee participation in decision-making: Evidence from a state-owned enterprise in Indonesia. *Management-Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, 20(1), 159-172.

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/9a6a/fa179cceb1a040af57452a8fd2344c5cab60.p

<u>df</u>



Isharyanto, F., Parsons, N., & Parker, D. W. (2015). Inclusion of strategic management theories to project management. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 8(3), 552-573. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijmpb-11-2014-0079</u>

Islam, H., & Rahman, M. (2020). The effect of management by objectives on performance appraisal and employee satisfaction in commercial banks. (2020). *European Journal of Business and Management*, 12(20), 15-25. https://doi.org/10.7176/EJBM/12-20-02

- Islami, X., Mulolli, E., & Mustafa, N. (2018). Using management by objectives as a performance appraisal tool for employee satisfaction. *Future Business Journal*, 4(1), 94-108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbj.2018.01.001</u>
- Jenner, B. M., & Myers, K. C. (2019). Intimacy, rapport, and exceptional disclosure: A comparison of in-person and mediated interview contexts. *International Journal* of Social Research Methodology, 22(2), 165-177.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1512694

Jeppson, N., & Salerno, D. (2017). Innovation focused strategy and earnings management. *Economic and Business Review*, *19*(1), 19–49.

https://www.ebrjournal.net/

Johansen, A. B., Ness, O., & Wennesland, D. K. (2015). Practical support facilitates recovery processes in professionally organized addiction self-help: An explanatory case study. *Journal of Groups in Addiction & Recovery*, 10(3), 224-248. https://doi.org/10.1080/1556035x.2015.1066724



- Jørgensen, M., & Yamashita, A. (2016). Cultural characteristics and their connection to increased risk of software project failure. *Journal of Software*, 11(6), 606-614. <u>https://doi.org/10.17706/jsw.11.6.606-614</u>
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(6), 1043-1056. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005</u>
- Jugdev, K. (2005). Project management as a strategic asset: what does it look like and how do companies get there? [Paper presentation]. PMI® Research Conference: Innovations, London, England. Project Management Institute.

http://131.232.13.9/bitstream/handle/2149/282/2005%20Innovations%20book%2 Ochapter%20-

%20PM%20as%20a%20strategic%20asset.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

- Kadam, R. A. (2017). Informed consent process: A step further towards making it meaningful!. *Perspectives in clinical research*, 8(3), 107–112. https://doi.org/10.4103/picr.PICR 147 16
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: developing a framework for a qualitative semi-structured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954-2965. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031
- Karim, N. S. A., Saba, T., & Albuolayan, A. (2017). Analysis of software security model in scenario of Software Development Life Cycle (SDLC). *Journal of Engineering Technology*, 6(2), 13. <u>https://www.engtech.org/jet/</u>



Kasemsap, K. (2016). Examining the roles of virtual team and information technology in global business. *Strategic Management and Leadership for Systems Development in Virtual Spaces*, 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-9688-4.ch001</u>

Kazim, A. (2017). A study of software development life cycle process models. International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Science; Udaipur, 8(1). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2988291</u>

- Kerzner, H. (2017). Project management metrics, kpis, and dashboards: A guide to measuring and monitoring project performance. John Wiley & Sons.
- Khan, A. (2006). Project scope management. *Cost Engineering*, 48(6), 12-16. https://brainmass.com/file/225952/Khan.pdf
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method Phenomenology. *Asian Social Science*, *10*(21). <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v10n21p298</u>
- Kharuddin, S., Foong, S. Y., & Senik, R. (2015). Effects of decision rationality on ERP adoption extensiveness and organizational performance. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(5), 658-679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jeim-02-2014-0018</u>
- Kinnunen, A. (2016). Developing a project plan through a standardized model for a non-organizational project: Case: Producing an album for SØNE [Bachelor's thesis, Lahti University of Applied Sciences].

https://www.theseus.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/109210/Kinnunen\_Anria.pdf?sequ ence=1



- Kiswani, J., Muhanna, M., & Qusef, A. (2017). Using metadata in optimizing the design and development of enterprise information systems. 2017 8th International Conference on Information and Communication Systems (ICICS), 188–193. https://doi.org/10.1109/iacs.2017.7921969
- Klein, R. W. (2005). A Regulator's Introduction to the Insurance Industry. NAIC. https://www.naic.org/documents/prod\_serv\_marketreg\_rii\_zb.pdf
- Ko, D., & Kirsch, L. J. (2017). The hybrid IT project manager: One foot each in the IT and business domains. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35(3), 307-319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.01.013</u>
- Komal, B., Janjua, U. I., Anwar, F., Madni, T. M., Cheema, M. F., Malik, M. N., & Shahid, A. R. (2020). The impact of scope creep on project success: An empirical investigation. *IEEE Access*, 8, 125755-125775.

https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3007098

- Kooskora, M. (2013). The role of (the right) values in an economic crisis. Journal of Management & Change, 2(1), 18.
  <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Mari\_Kooskora/publication/263851844\_The">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Mari\_Kooskora/publication/263851844\_The</a> <u>Role of the Right Values in an Economic Crisis/links/00b7d53c1b4300a94c</u> <u>000000/The-Role-of-the-Right-Values-in-an-Economic-Crisis.pdf</u>
- Korzaan, M., & Erskine, M. (2018). The influence of goal orientation, goal commitment, and implementation mindset on project success. AMCIS 2018 Proceedings. <u>https://aisel.aisnet.org/amcis2018/TREOsPDS/Presentations/25</u>



Krahn, J., & Hartment, F. (2006). Effective project leadership: A combination of project manager skills and competencies in context [Paper presentation]. PMI® Research Conference: New Directions in Project Management, Montréal, Québec, Canada. Project Management Institute.

https://www.theseus.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/109210/Kinnunen\_Anria.pdf?sequ ence=1

- Kuster, J., Huber, E., Lippmann, R., Schmid, A., Schneider, E., Witschi, U., & Wüst, R. (2015). What is project management?. In *Project Management Handbook* (pp. 9-12). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-45373-5\_3</u>
- Larson, R., & Larson, E. (2009). Top five causes of scope creep ... and what to do about them [Paper presentation].PMI® Global Congress 2009—North America, Orlando, FL. Project Management Institute.

https://www.pmi.org/learning/library/top-five-causes-scope-creep-6675

Leal, J. L., Rodríguez, J. P., & Gallardo, O. A. (2018). Project time: Time management method for software development projects-analytical summary. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, *1126*, 012030. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-</u> 6596/1126/1/012030

Lee, C. S., & Wong, K. D. (2018, July). Design-computational thinking, transfer and flavors of reuse: scaffolds to information and data science for sustainable systems in smart cities. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Information Reuse and Integration (IRI) (pp. 225-228). IEEE. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/iri.2018.00040</u>



- Levinson, H. (2003). Management by whose objectives? *Harvard Business Review*, January 2003. <u>https://hbr.org/2003/01/management-by-whose-objectives</u>.
- Lew, K. (2015). Engineer. Cavendish Square Publishing.
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*(4), 473-475.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941

Lips-Wiersma, M., & Mills, A. (2014). Understanding the basic assumptions about human nature in workplace spirituality: Beyond the critical versus positive divide, *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 23, 137-147.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1056492613501227

Locatelli, G., Mancini, M., & Romano, E. (2017). Project manager and systems engineer: A literature rich reflection on roles and responsibilities. *International Journal of Project Organisation and Management*, 9(3), 195.

https://doi.org/10.1504/ijpom.2017.087577

- Locke, E. A. (2013). New Developments in Goal Setting and Task Performance. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203082744
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (1990). A theory of goal setting & task performance. In A Theory of Goal Setting & Task Performance. Prentice-Hall.

https://doi.org/10.2307/258875

Mannay, D., & Morgan, M. (2015). Doing ethnography or applying a qualitative technique? Reflections from the 'waiting field'. *Qualitative Research*, 15(2), 166-

182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794113517391</u>



- Mark, S., & Lurie, Y. (2018). Customized project charter for computational scientific software products. *Journal of Computational Methods in Sciences and Engineering*, 18(1), 165-176. https://doi.org/10.3233/jcm-180778
- Marsh, F. (2018). 10 great leadership skills of project management. About Leaders. https://aboutleaders.com/10-great-leadership-skills-of-projectmanagement/#gs.vv26ww
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research?: A review of qualitative interviews in is research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11–22.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). *Designing qualitative research*. SAGE Publications.
- Maruping, L. M., Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y. L., & Zhang, X. (2019). A risk mitigation framework for information technology projects: A cultural contingency perspective. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, *36*(1), 120-157. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2018.1550555
- Marwa, W., Davis, S., Griffiths, C., Radley, D., & Strachan, E. (2019). Keeping track:Triangulating methods to measure the food environment: A pilot study. *JuniperOnline Journal of Public Health*, 4(3).

https://doi.org/10.19080/JOJPH.2019.04.555636



McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*(7), 537-542.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116

- Mealer, M., & Jones, J. (2014). Methodological and ethical issues related to qualitative telephone interviews on sensitive topics. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(4), 32-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2014.03.21.4.32.e1229</u>
- Mikhieieva, O., & Waidmann, M. (2017). Communication management tools for managing projects in an intercultural environment. *PM World Journal*, 6(8), 1-15. <u>https://www.pmworldjournal.net</u>

Mittal, D. H. (2016). Comparative analysis of automated functional testing tools. 6(6), 4.

Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical Analysis of Strategies for Determining Rigor in Qualitative Inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212-1222.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501

- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412995658
- Muasya, J. N., & Gatumu, J. (2013). Ethical issues in researching discourses of sexual harassment in higher education: Experiences from the University of Nairobi, Kenya. *International Journal of Education and Research*, *10*(1), 179-188.
   <a href="https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7e5d/8d6c99e3cfc3bb2cdb55f8734e666fd449ab">https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7e5d/8d6c99e3cfc3bb2cdb55f8734e666fd449ab</a>.
   <a href="https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7e5d/8d6c99e3cfc3bb2cdb55f8734e666fd449ab">https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/7e5d/8d6c99e3cfc3bb2cdb55f8734e666fd449ab</a>.



Mukherjee, S., & Ghosh, D. (2018). Learning with ICT : A quality teaching. International Journal of Innovative Studies in Sociology and Humanities, 3(6), 5. <u>https://www.ijissh.org</u>

Muller, R., Geraldi, J., & Turner, J. R. (2012). Relationships between leadership and success in different types of project complexities. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 59(1), 77-90.

https://doi.org/10.1109/tem.2011.2114350

Müller, R., & Turner, R. (2010). Leadership competency profiles of successful project managers. *International Journal of Project Management*, 28(5), 437-448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2009.09.003</u>

Mustaquim, M. M., & Nyström, T. (2015). A system development life cycle for persuasive design for sustainability. In T. MacTavish & S. Basapur (Eds.), *Persuasive Technology: 10<sup>th</sup> international conference PERSUASIVE 2015, Chicago, IL, USA, June 3–5, 2015, proceedings* (pp. 217-228). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20306-5\_20</u>

Nardi, P. M. (2018). Doing Survey Research. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315172231

National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-</u> policy/belmont-report/index.html



- Ndimande, B. S. (2012). Decolonizing research in postapartheid South Africa: The politics of methodology. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *18*(3), 215-226. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800411431557
- Njogu, C. N., Namusonge, G. S., & Oluoch, O. (2018). Influence of project planning on the performance of community based HIV projects in Kiambu, Kenya. *Journal of Developing Country Studies*, 3(1). 77-95. <u>http://www.iprjb.org/</u>
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34 -35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054</u>
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 1609406917733847. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>
- Nusbaum, L., Douglas, B., Damus, K., Paasche-Orlow, M., & Estrella-Luna, N. (2017).
   Communicating risks and benefits in informed consent for research: a qualitative study. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, *4*, 2333393617732017.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/233393617732017">https://doi.org/10.1177/233393617732017</a>
- Nyameke, E., Haapasalo, H., & Aaltonen, K. (2020). Formation of project identity in a multi-project environment. *Management, Knowledge and Learning*, 9(1), 3. <u>http://www.issbs.si/press/ISSN/2232-5697/9\_3-25.pdf</u>
- Obondi, K. C. (2020). The Relationship Between Project Risk Monitoring, Control Practices, and Project Success in Construction Projects [Doctoral dissertation, Northcentral University].



https://search.proquest.com/openview/1b5c230077edf74b6ef0fb3178b3cd0e/1?pq -origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

Ogbeiwi, O. (2017). Why written objectives need to be really SMART. British Journal of Healthcare Management, 23(7), 324-336.

https://doi.org/10.12968/bjhc.2017.23.7.324

- Oltmann, S. (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of the interviewer and respondent contexts. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 17(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-17.2.2551</u>
- Oluwaseun, B. R., Muyiwa, O., Olanrewaju, B. A., Omolaran, B. B., & Iyabo, B. S.
   (2016). E-attendance system using waterfall software development life cycle simulation. *Journal of Computer Science and Control Systems*, *10*(2), 10–15.
   <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/321497189\_E-</u>
   Attendance System using Waterfall Software Development Life\_Cycle Simul

ation

- Onyeike, V. C., & Eseyin, E. O. (2018). Tertiary Education Trust Fund (tetfund) and the management of university education in Nigeria. *Global Journal of Educational Research*, 13(2), 63. <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/gjedr.v13i2.2</u>
- O' Regan, G. (2017). Software project management. Undergraduate Topics in Computer Science, (pp. 27-46) Springer International Publishing.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-57750-0\_2

Oun, T. A., Blackburn, T. D., Olson, B. A., & Blessner, P. (2016). An enterprise-wide knowledge management approach to project management. *Engineering* 



Management Journal, 28(3), 179-192.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10429247.2016.1203715

- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Patah, L. A., & de Carvalho, M. M. (2017). The value of project management methodology: a case study. *Product: Management and Development*, 7(2), 177-182. <u>https://pmd.igdp.org.br/article/586fc521f7636eea018b45f8/pdf/pmd-7-2-177.pdf</u>
- Paul, P., Bhuimali, A., Kalishankar, T., Aithal, P. S., & Rajesh, R. (2018). Project management with special reference to IT management and allied areas: An overview. *International Journal of Applied Science and Engineering*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.30954/2322-0465.1.2018.7
- Peterson, A. J., & Bonell, C. (2018). School experiences and young women's pregnancy and parenthood decisions: A systematic review and synthesis of qualitative research. *Health & Place*, 53(2), 52–61.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2018.07.003

Phillips, M., & Lu, J. (2018). A quick look at NVivo. *Journal of Electronic Resources Librarianship*, *30*(2), 104–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/1941126x.2018.1465535



Pietkiewicz, I., & Smith, J. A. (2014). A practical guide to using interpretative phenomenological analysis in qualitative research psychology. *Psychological Journal*, 20(1), 7-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.14691/cppj.20.1.7</u>

Pinto, J., & Slevin, D. (1987). Critical Factors in Successful Project Implementation. Engineering Management, IEEE Transactions On, EM-34, 22–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.1987.6498856</u>

Poorhassan, S. (2020). Information technology for project cost management (Case study: Soufian cement co, iran). *International Journal of Finance & Managerial Accounting*, 4(16), 39-49.

http://ijfma.srbiau.ac.ir/article\_15388\_b10abb33f05c09dc755f4805b3c6bfc7.pdf

- Rajkumar, G., & Alagarsamy, K. (2013). The most common factors for the failure of software development project. *International Journal of Computer Science & Applications*, 1(11), 74-77. <u>http://www.journalofcomputerscience.com/</u>
- Ramage, K. L. (2018). Scope management strategies for engineering leaders to improve project success rates [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University]. <u>https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/5516</u>

Reiter, S., Stewart, G., & Bruce, C. S. (2011). A strategy for delayed research method selection: Deciding between grounded theory and phenomenology. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *9*, 35–46.
<u>https://eprints.qut.edu.au/48527/1/Reiter%2C\_S.%2C\_et\_al. %282011%29. A\_S trategy\_for\_Delayed\_Research\_Method\_Selection-</u>

\_Deciding\_Between\_Grounded\_Theory\_and\_Phenomenology.\_The\_Electronic%



C2%A0Journal of Business Research Methods%2C 9%281%29%2C 35-46..pdf

- Robbins, T. R. (2019). A multipart project planning and tracking exercise. *Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education*, 17(2), 104-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dsji.12176</u>
- Robertson, J. H., & Thomson, A. M. (2014). A phenomenological study of the effects of clinical negligence litigation on midwives in England: The personal perspective.
   *Midwifery*, 30(3), e121–e130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2013.12.003</u>
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.801543</u>
- Rojas, L., & Figueroa, M. (2018). Selecting and Prioritizing Projects: A study on Intergovernmental and Non-profit Organizations. <u>https://www.diva-</u>

portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1184233/FULLTEXT01.pdf

- Rosenthal, M. (2016). Qualitative research methods: Why, when, and how to conduct interviews and focus groups in pharmacy research. *Currents in pharmacy teaching and learning*, 8(4), 509-516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2016.03.021</u>
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35(3/4), 260-271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/01409171211210154</u>
- Roy, B., Dasgupta, R., & Chaki, N. (2016). A study on software risk management strategies and mapping with SDLC. In *Advanced Computing and Systems for*



Security (pp. 121-138). Springer, New Delhi. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-</u> 2653-6\_9

- Sachs, R. (2018). Risk and uncertainty in the insurance industry. In M. Raue, E. Lermer,
  & B. Streicher (Eds.), *Psychological Perspectives on Risk and Risk Analysis: Theory, Models, and Applications* (pp. 329–344). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92478-6\_15</u>
- Samman, T. A. S., & Brahemi, R. M. R. (2014). Fuzzy PERT for project management. International Journal of Advances in Engineering & Technology, 7(4), 1150. <u>https://www.techrepublic.com/resourcelibrary/company/cass%20information%20systems/1238/</u>
- Sarkar, C. B., & Locatelli, M. (2018). A strategic integration between Agile and traditional project management approaches for a clear view on Project Closure in the Insurance industry: The Intesa Sanpaolo Life's case study [Bachelor thesis, Umeå School of Business and Economics]. <u>http://www.diva-</u>

portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1192965/FULLTEXT01.pdf

Scheuchner, G. (2017). Strategies to promote IT project success. [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].

https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5961&context=diss ertations

Serrador, P., & Turner, R. (2015). The relationship between project success and project efficiency. *Project Management Journal*, *46*(1), 30–39.

https://doi.org/10.1002/pmj.21468



Setyowati, Y. (2018). Digital business collaboration and efficiency in accounting information system of banyuwangi-mall.com. *International Journal of Engineering*, *5*. https://www.sciencepubco.com/index.php/IJET

Seymour, T., & Hussein, S. (2014). The history of project management. International Journal of Management & Information Systems, 18(4), 233. https://doi.org/10.19030/ijmis.v18i4.8820

Shahibi, M. S., Sarifudin, S. A., Hussin, N., Ibrahim, Z., Ali, J., & Fakeh, S. K. W. (2019). Factors influencing information technology project management success in the financial industry, 97(10), 10. <u>https://www.jatit.org</u>

Sharma, R. (2017). Grounding functional requirements classification in organizational semiotics. *Interdisciplinary Approaches to Semiotics*.

https://doi.org/10.5772/67608

- Shivakumar, S. K. (2018). Why Digital Projects Fail?. In: Complete Guide to Digital Project Management, (pp. 249-265) Apress. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-3417-4\_10</u>
- Singh, S. (2015). Hello, limitations! The paradoxical power of limits in scientific writing. *Indian Journal of Dermatology, Venereology, and Leprology*, 81(1), 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0378-6323.148555</u>
- Spector-Mersel, G. (2010). Narrative research: Time for a paradigm. *Narrative Inquiry*, 20(1), 204-224. https://doi.org/10.1075/ni.20.1.10spe



- Standing, S., Kordt, E., & Standing, O. (2016). Explaining attribution in information technology projects. *Journal of Systems and Information Technology*, 18(2), 216– 227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jsit-01-2016-0002</u>
- Stelson, P., Hille, J., Eseonu, C., & Doolen, T. (2017). What drives continuous improvement project success in healthcare? *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 30(1), 43–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijhcqa-03-2016-0035</u>
- St. Pierre, E. A., & Jackson, A. Y. (2014). Qualitative data analysis after coding. Qualitative Inquiry, 20(6), 715-719. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800414532435</u>
- Strucker, T. (2018). Application of project management standards in small and mediumsized enterprises (SMEs) [Master Thesis, Kaunas University of Technology]. https://epubl.ktu.edu/object/elaba:28174106/
- Sudhakar, G. (2016). *Critical failure factors (CFFs) of IT projects* (SSRN Scholarly Paper No. ID 3072157). Social Science Research Network.

https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3072157

- Sull, D., & Sull, C. (2018). With goals, FAST beats SMART. MIT Sloan Management Review, 59(4), 1-11. <u>https://mitsmr.com/2M0tVWe</u>
- Sullivan, C. (2016). The 2014 Sony hack and the role of international law. *Journal of National Security Law & Policy*, 8(3), 1-27. <u>http://jnslp.com</u>

Szolnoki, G., & Hoffmann, D. (2013). Online, face-to-face and telephone surveys—
 Comparing different sampling methods in wine consumer research. *Wine Economics and Policy*, 2(2), 57–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wep.2013.10.001</u>



Taylor, R. G., Brice, J., Jr., & Robinson, S. L. (2016). Perception deception: security risks created by optimistic perceptions. *Journal of Systems and Information Technology*, 18(1), 2-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jsit-07-2015-0062</u>

Terlizzi, M. A., de Souza Meirelles, F., & de Moraes, H. R. O. C. (2016). Barriers to the use of an IT Project Management Methodology in a large financial institution.
 *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(3), 467-479.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.12.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.12.005</a>

Tetnowski, J. (2015). Qualitative case study research design. *Perspectives on Fluency* and Fluency Disorders, 25(1), 39–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/ffd25.1.39</u>

Thamhain, H. J. (2014). Assessing the effectiveness of quantitative and qualitative methods for R & D project proposal evaluations. *Engineering Management Journal*, 26(3), 3–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10429247.2014.11432015</u>

Thierbach, C., & Lorenz, A. (2014). Exploring the orientation in space. Mixing focused ethnography and surveys in social experiment. *Historical Social Research / Historische Sozialforschung*, *39*(2), 137–166.

https://doi.org/10.12759/hsr.39.2014.2.137-166

Thorpe, A. S. (2014). Doing the right thing or doing the thing right: Implications of participant withdrawal. Organizational Research Methods, 17(3), 255-277. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428114524828

Titarenko, B., Hasnaoui, A., & Titarenko, R. (2018). Risk management system model for construction projects. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 365, 042019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/365/4/042019</u>



- Turner, B. L., Kim, H., & Andersen, D. F. (2013). Improving coding procedures for purposive text data: Researchable questions for qualitative system dynamics modeling. *System Dynamics Review*, 29(4), 253-263. https://doi.org/10.1002/sdr.1506
- Turner, J. R., & Müller, R. (2003). On the nature of the project as a temporary organization. *International Journal of Project Management*, 21(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0263-7863(02)00020-0</u>
- Udawatta, N., Zuo, J., Chiveralls, K., Yuan, H., George, Z., & Elmualim, A. (2018).Major factors impeding the implementation of waste management in australian construction projects. *Journal of Green Building*, *13*(3), 101–121.

https://doi.org/10.3992/1943-4618.13.3.101

- Urbanek, A. (2016). Transaction costs in the it project implementation illustrated with the example of silesian card of public services. *Communications in Computer and Information Science*, (pp. 35-46) Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-49646-7\_4
- Van der Hoorn, B., & Whitty, S. J. (2015). A Heideggerian paradigm for project management: Breaking free of the disciplinary matrix and its Cartesian ontology. *International Journal of Project Management*, 33(4), 721-734.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.09.007</u>
- Van Griensven, H., Moore, A. P., & Hall, V. (2014). Mixed methods research The best of both worlds? *Manual Therapy*, *19*(5), 367-371.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2014.05.005



 Vu, P., Knoell, C. M., Nebesniak, A., & Strawhecker, J. (2018). Gamified - Blended learning professional development: A descriptive case study. *Online Course Management: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications*, 1202–1211. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-5472-1.ch061</u>

Wagner, D. N. (2016). Breakin'the project wave: Understanding and avoiding failure in project management. *PM World Journal*, 5(1), 1-21. http://www.pmworldjournal.net/

Wahyudi, S. E., Tileng, K. G., & Kurniawan, I. B. (2018). Enhancing students' technopreneurship projects with mobile collaboration and communication application. *Journal of Telecommunication, Electronic and Computer Engineering*, 10(2-3), 129-134.

https://journal.utem.edu.my/index.php/jtec/article/viewFile/4205/3082

- Walthour, R. (2018). Successful Strategies for Financial Sustainability in Nursing Homes. Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies.
   https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/4950
- Weisburd, D., & Gill, C. (2014). Block randomized trials at places: rethinking the limitations of small n experiments. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 30(1), 97–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10940-013-9196-z</u>
- Willig, C., & Rogers, W. S. (2017). The sage handbook of qualitative research in psychology. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE. <u>https://ocw.upj.ac.id/files/Textbook-</u> PSI-308-Introducing-Qualitative-Research-in-Psychology.pdf



- Wilson, V. (2014). Research methods: Triangulation. *Evidence Based Library and Information Practice*, 9(1), 74-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.18438/b8ww3x</u>
- Winter, R., Rohner, P., & Kiselev, C. (2019). *Mission impossible? Exploring the limits of managing large it projects and ways to cross the line* [Paper presentation]. The 52nd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, Grand Wailea, Maui, HI, United States. <u>https://doi.org/10.24251/hicss.2019.768</u>
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2015). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (qdas)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using atlasti and nvivo, 1994–2013. *Social Science Computer Review*, 34(5), 597-617.

https://doi.org/10.1177/089443931559631

- Yamin, M., & Sim, A. (2016). Critical success factors for international development projects in Maldives: Project teams' perspective. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 9(3), 481-504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijmpb-08-</u> 2015-0082
- Yang, K., Arcidiacono, G., & Costantino, N. (2016). The AMSE lean six sigma governance model. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 7(3), 233-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijlss-06-2015-0026</u>
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions:
   Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48(2), 311-325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12014</u>



- Yin, R. K. (2017). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods*. Sage Publications.
- Yu, J. (2020). A practical guide to managing online course design projects: Timeline, milestone, and RACI. In T. Bastiaens & G. Marks (Eds.), *Proceedings of Innovate Learning Summit 2020* (pp. 167-170). Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE).

https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/218798/

Zahra, S., Nazir, A., Khalid, A., Raana, A., & Nadeem, M. (2014). Performing inquisitive study of PM traits desirable for project progress. *International Journal of Modern Education and Computer Science*, 6(2), 41-47.

https://doi.org/10.5815/ijmecs.2014.02.6

Zarndt, F. (2011). Project management 101: Plan well, communicate a lot, and don't forget acceptance criteria! OCLC Systems & Services: International Digital Library Perspectives, 27(3), 170-174.

https://doi.org/10.1108/10650751111164542

Zaveckaite, A., & Ulbinaite, A. (2018). Assessment criteria of project risk management in language translation service companies. *Technological and Economic Development of Economy*, 24(4), 1323-1343.

https://doi.org/10.3846/20294913.2017.1295287

Zoder, S. (2019). *Poor communication is still the primary contributor to project failure*. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/stephanzoder/2019/12/17/poor-communication-is-</u> <u>still-the-primary-contributor-to-project-failure/#2083f20c5a6a</u>



## Zwikael, O., Chih, Y.-Y., & Meredith, J. R. (2018). Project benefit management: Setting effective target benefits. *International Journal of Project Management*, 36(4), 650-658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2018.01.002



## Appendix: Interview Protocol

Interview: What strategies do project managers use to reduce IT project failures in the insurance industry?

A. In the initial email communication with potential participants, I will include the following screening criteria questions:

- 1. What strategies have you used to reduce IT project failures?
- 2. What strategies did you find worked best to minimize the risk of IT project failure?
- 3. How did the different strategies reduce IT project failure impact project outcomes?
- 4. What modifications did you apply to any of the strategies to improve the effect of IT project success?
- 5. What strategies were the least effective in reducing IT project failure, why?
- 6. Is there anything else you would like to add that you did not address about reducing IT project failures?

B. I will thank the participants for their assistance, introduce myself, and introduce the interview topic, at the beginning of the face-to-face interview.

C. I will present the informed consent form. I will also highlight the confidentiality portion of the process and the contact information for questions, concerns, or requests to withdraw from the study. I will bring two consent forms, so the participant has the option to take a hard copy with them at the end of the interview.



D. Following the signing of the consent form, I will ask if the participant is ready to begin.

E. Once the participant indicates they are ready to begin the interview, I will start the audio recorder, state the date and participant identification code, and initiate the interview questions.

F. The interview will last between 30 and 45 minutes for the main interview questions, follow-up and clarification questions.

G. During the interview, I will observe and record non-verbal cues, ask probing questions, and clarify as necessary. At the end of the scripted interview questions, I will ask if the participant has anything they would like to add.

H. At the conclusion of the interview, I will again thank the participant for their time and responses. I will end the audio recording, and explain to the participant that I will followup within 5 days for member checking review to ensure I captured and interpreted the interview information accurately.

Sample conclusion includes:

Thank you for participating in this study. The next step will be to transcribe the audio recording of this interview, incorporate the notes and write the interview summary. Once complete, may I send the interview overview to you to check and validate the emergent themes I have captured both your words and meaning within your intended context? I. After all the interviews are complete, transcribed, and analyzed, I will provide a brief

overview of the emergent themes to the participants for member-checking.



J. At the conclusion of the study, I will provide the participant a summary of the study findings for their review and records.

